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PART |
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain, initidd to historical information, forward-lookingaements. These
forward-looking statements are based on the Compatyrent assumptions, expectations and projestamout future
events. Words like “believe,” “anticipate,” “intdji “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” and similar pressions are used to
identify forward-looking statements, although nibf@rward-looking statements contain these wofidsese forward-looking
statements are estimates reflecting the best judgofehe Company’s management and actual eventssoits may differ
materially from the results anticipated in thesenfrd-looking statements as a result of a varidtyaotors. While it is
impossible to identify all such factors, factoratticould cause actual results to differ materiityn those estimated by us
include:

e each of the factors discussed in Item 1A of thimdal Report on Form 10-K, Risk Factors, as wellriaks
discussed elsewhere in this report;

» our ability to recruit and retain key technical andnagement personnel;

» changes in existing laws;

» our ability to expand our customer base;

» infringement on the proprietary rights of our prageand the rights of others;

* competitive pricing pressures in the service mamege industry and our responses to those pressures;

e our ability to develop new products on a timelyibadkat keep pace with new technological developsen

« ourincreased dependence on technology from tlartlgs; and

e our ability to expand our products into internatibmarkets.

Many of these factors are beyond our ability todpreor control. In addition, as a result of thesel other factors, our past
financial performance should not be relied on aditation of future performance. The cautionstgtements referred to
in this section also should be considered in commeavith any subsequent written or oral forwardkng statements,

whether as a result of new information, future éser otherwise, except as required by law. Intlighthese risks and

uncertainties, the forward-looking events and eitstances discussed in this report might not o¢ewtthermore, we cannot
guarantee future results, events, levels of agtipiérformance, or achievements.

The Company is not under any obligation and do¢sntend to make publicly available any update threo revision to any

forward-looking statements to reflect circumstanegisting after the date of this Annual Report amrf 10-K or to reflect

the occurrence of future events even if experiemcéuture events make it clear that any expectedlt® expressed or
implied by these forward-looking statements wilt be realized.

Item 1. Business.

General

Astea International Inc. and subsidiaries (colleddti “we,” “us,” “Astea” or the “Company”) developnarket and support
service management software solutions, which @enfied to companies that sell and service equipraadior sell and
deliver professional services. Companies invesistea’s software and services to automate enterfmisiness processes
for purposes of revenue enhancement, cost containroperational efficiency improvement, and the amgion of their
awareness of operational performance through adcalyteporting. Customers’ return on investmemnfrimplementing
Astea’s solutions is achieved through more efficileanagement of information, people, processesash flows, which we
believe increases competitive advantage and custsattisfaction as well as top-line revenue anditaioifity.

Astea’s solutions are used in industries such fsriration technology, medical devices and diageosyistems, industrial
controls and instrumentation, retail/point-of-salguipment, heating, ventilation, and air conditimnisystems (“HVAC"),
office equipment, imaging systems, fire and segugaming/leisure equipment, facilities managemgsiecommunications
and other related industries with equipment safesservice requirements. Astea’s strong focus darprise solutions for
organizations that sell and deliver services isnaue industry differentiator that draws upon thenfpany’s extensive
industry experience and core expertise.

Founded in 1979, Astea is known throughout the sty largely from its proven success as a providesoftware solutions
for field service management. Astea has since ealgrhrits product portfolio to also include integthtsmanagement



applications for sales, multi-channel customer @aontenters, third party vendor management, wockfaptimization, and
professional services automation.

Astea offers all the cornerstones of service lideymanagement, including customer managementijceermanagement;
asset management; complete forward and reversstitlgmanagement; and mobile workforce manageméhtemhanced

scheduling optimization and actionable businesaligence. We believe this comprehensive apprgmokiides unmatched
expertise in service lifecycle workflow and intetipa needs throughout the service continuum. Astsalutions empower
companies by making more actionable data readidgssible, providing companies the agility neededctuieve sustainable
value more quickly and to compete successfully ghodal community.

Astea’s software has been licensed to approxima@d9 companies worldwide. Customers range from sizd-
organizations to large, multinational corporatiavith geographically dispersed locations arounddlude. The Company
markets and supports its products through a woddwietwork of direct and indirect sales and sesvioffices with
corporate headquarters in the United States arnidn@gheadquarters in the United Kingdom, Australied Japan. Sales
partners include distributors (value-added resgllesystem integrators and sales agents) and driggqaipment
manufacturing partners (“OEM partners”). See Nddd the Consolidated Financial Statements Geograépdgment Data
for revenues, income (loss) from operations and) lived assets related to each of the Company'grgghic operating
regions for the past two years.

In addition to its own product development that@ducted at Company facilities in the United Stediad Israel, Astea
participates in contractual relationships with céenpentary technology companies in order to redune-to-market with
new product capabilities and continually incredsevalue proposition to customeihe Company’s product strategies are
developed from the collective feedback from cust@nédustry consultants, technology partners adsspartners, in
addition to its internal product management, prifasal services, and development teams. Asteawadsks with its active
user community who closely advises and participetemgoing product development efforts.

Astea provides customers with an array of profesdiconsulting, training and customer support sewito implement its
products and integrate them with other corporatgesys such as back-office financial and enterpeseurce planning
(ERP) applications. Astea also maintains and suppty software over its installed life cycle. TBempany’'s experience
and domain expertise in service and sales manaderdestribution, logistics, finance, mobile techogies, internet
applications and enterprise systems integratiom@de available to customers during their assedsnodéiwhere and how
their business processes can be improved.

The Company’s sales and marketing efforts are pifyn@cused on new software licensing and suppertices for its latest
generation of Astea Alliance and FieldCentrix prcisu

Industry Overview — Service Management

Service management is generally defined as a teielmperforming repair, installation, or reguladgheduled/preventive
maintenance work at a customer site. It involves timnagement of incoming service requests, disipatabf service
technicians, managing parts, managing contracteriing service based on service level agreesentd severity of
problems, and the repair, refurbishment and regrgnprocess for a piece of equipment. Field sergig@nizations vary
greatly in size, industries and supported techrietog Although every industry relies on field ses/ito some degree, for
certain industries field service is critical. Eguient, ranging from computers and peripherals fitding systems, office
equipment and medical equipment depends on figldcge Sometimes, this equipment is the lifebladd company, and
any downtime or service interruptions can signiftbaimpair operations or even endanger humarelifé safety.

Managing today's service enterprise means planaimd coordinating service on a global scale. It raedalighting
customers - and it calls for new technologies andirtess practices designed specifically to sohee sérvice lifecycle
management challenge. The benefits of implemergiamgice management solutions are applicable inalist every service
organization, regardless of type, size, or geograghved.



Current Product Offerings

Astea Alliance

MARKETING
Your

Customers

HR/ADMIN SERVICE

ASSET WORKFORCE

— MANAGEMENT PLANNING
“-___\

MOBILE [

WORKFORCE | | REVERSE LOGISTICS
MANAGEMENT MANAGEMENT

// S ——

CUSTOMER SERVICE e

MANAGEMENT X MANAGEMENT

—

ASTEA SOLUTIONS

CUSTOMER PROJECT
CONTAGT SELF-SERVICE | MANAGEMENT SALES &
CENTER CUSTOMERS

IRD PARTY WORKFORCE
VENDOR MANAGEMENT PLANNING
MOBILE ORDER
WORKFORCE MGMT PROCESSING

SCHEDULING : SERVICE PARTS
OPTIMIZATION CONTRACT &
e WARRANTY MGMT %, LOSISTICS

. ORACLE - SUPPLIERS
ORACLE SiEmEL )
QuickBooks

salesforce.com
EPICOR |
L& ~~all.— CHANNEL pARTNERS

Microsoft Dynamics w .

ASTEA INTEGRATION

FINANCIALS
SERVICE LIFECYCLE THIRD parTY REPAIR

Astea Alliance is a service management offeringsigiing of software applications and services. $b#ware product

consists of a series of applications. The offetiag been developed as a global solution from thangl up with multi-
lingual and multi-currency capabilities.

Astea Alliance has been designed to address th@letenservice lifecycle, from lead generation anojgrt quotation to

service and billing through asset retirement. ntegrates and optimizes critical business procefge€ampaigns, Call

Center, Depot Repair, Field Service, Logistics,jéuts and Sales and Order Processing applicatidkstea extends its
application suite with mobile workforce managemeathtnamic scheduling optimization, third party ven@md customer

self-service portals, and business intelligenceorter to ensure customer satisfaction and ga@ittkm on investment, Astea
also offers infrastructure tools and services.



In 2015, Astea issued two product releases, Astdi@n8e 12.0 and 12.5, which deliver a number otemmrthy
advancements that will help companies acceleratgorese times, improve the overall customer expeegieand gain instant
access to actionable intelligence. A summary ofufes released with Astea Alliance 12.0 and 12e5haghlighted below.
They include:

. Visualization & Collaboration Tools —Astea’s daoti-edge HTML5 mobile solution has been leveraggdjlobal
organizations to increase engineer productivitduoe costs and improve customer satisfaction. Agtewins relentless in
the pursuit of providing powerful capabilities toet mobile user without adding complexity to theruseperience. These
releases continue to build on that philosophy waigtimized user navigation; the ability for a mobilser to work from
multiple devices with complete synchronizationsa@stn devices; visualization tools to easily suppett-dispatch; live chat
connecting the field engineer with the back officentralized parts order status view; and full ipectional Microsoft
Outlook synchronization. Astea’s mobile solutionoyides the level of flexibility necessary that mski easy for
organizations to modify and adapt the solution, ddferent user profiles or businesses, withoutureng development
skillsets or adding additional costs.

. Your Service Platform, Your Way — Astea knowstteaen with the deepest level of functionality lreir platform,
organizations will always want to have the flexilyito make modifications to adapt to their bussdgnamics. A couple of
years ago, Astea introduced an innovative custdinizéool that gives organizations the control timegd, without requiring
coding, while still being able to take advantagehaf latest and greatest Astea Alliance featureatgsd Additionally, there
are added capabilities to give non-technical usees more “do it yourself” tools, while Astea’srnawork actively governs
these customizations making it easy to see whatissom and what is standard. Organizations caml lmglv modules, as
well as import and export customizations to difféarenvironments, when needed. All customizationskweith the latest
Astea Alliance product updates.

. Drive Proactive Support and Continuous Procegsrénement — For years, Astea has been providints taod
reporting capabilities that provide proactive seevinsight and intelligence at every level. Asteatimues to further enhance
its decision making visualization tools, to eas#yd quickly leverage insightful information for opal process
improvements, productivity and customer satisfactio

. Easily Manage and Support a Company’s Entire iBerZcosystem — When it comes to optimizing a comwijsa
service ecosystem, visibility and control becomesiain critical requirements to manage and trackfahe people, internal
and external to the organization, and processéshe an impact on the overall service experidocéhe customer. Astea
has added a new customer satisfaction trackinghdiggdo make it easy to collect as well reviewstamer feedback at any
time. Astea also introduced a new, vibrant Custogwf-Service module which optimizes workflow anditfier enriches the
end user experience. Additionally, Astea's new iBerWanager Analytics App, makes relevant perforoeametrics
instantly available to service managers and exeesitto quickly and easily monitor for optimal seevioutcomes. Astea
continues to add enhancements to its scheduling@atiion solution, leveraging the latest Microsithnologies, to ensure
optimal operational performance. Further enhancésnbave also been made in the area of Astea’s Téndy Vendor
Management, Contracts, Logistics, and ProfessiBaalices Automation (Projects).

ServiceAlliance and SalesAlliance, the earliessigrs of Astea Alliance solutions, were the Compaunyitial technology
offerings following a long and highly successfustory with its DISPATCH-1 legacy system solutionéstea Alliance
solutions have been licensed to over 806tomers worldwide. Market acceptance of Aste@Atle byglobal and regional
companies has continually increased since 2002t ompany has aggressively pursued opporturidgiearger system
implementations with mid-size to large enterprises worldwide basis.

The current Astea Alliance offering consists of:

e Core Applications;

* Mobile Applications;

» Extended Portals;

* Reporting and Business Intelligence; and
* Tools.

Astea Alliance Core Applications:
Alliance Contact Center

Alliance Depot Repair
Alliance Field Service



Alliance Logistics

Alliance Order Processing

Alliance Professional Services
Alliance Sales

Alliance Dynamic Scheduling Engine
Alliance Workforce Planning

Astea Alliance Mobile Applications:

Alliance Mobile — Laptop/ Smartphones/Tablets
Alliance Third Party Vendor Mobile
Alliance 2-way Paging

Astea Alliance Extended Portals:

Alliance Customer Self-Service
Alliance Vendor & Third Party Management

Astea Alliance Reporting and Business Intelligence:

Alliance Reporting
Alliance Business Intelligence

Astea Alliance Tools:

Alliance Link
Alliance Knowledge Base

Astea Alliance Core Applications

The Alliance Contact Center application supportd canters, information desks, service hotlinesside sales and
telemarketing activities. Integrated multi-chanimédound/outbound capabilities enable customer serwpresentatives to
serve prospects and customers in their media dtehacluding phone, fax, e-mail or Internet. elgtated customer self-
service portals with automated e-mail responsegyraated call escalation and interface to Computéepf®ny Integration
systems help streamline customer interaction psasesVork scheduling and demand balancing optistia utilization.
Employee portals with access to comprehensive tiral-customer data and decision support tools dhiaty intelligent
knowledge management and scripting for problemlu¢ism, drive higher staff productivity. The obja@s of Astea’s
Alliance Contact Center software are to reduce los@d through improved first-call resolution rated ahorter service-call
handling times, as well as more efficient custosawice and higher levels of customer satisfactioknowledge engine
enhances the diagnostic tools available to comter agents. This knowledge engine is alsoa@dailin other areas of the
solution suite such as Depot Repair and Field Servi

Alliance Depot Repair

Alliance Depot Repair automates tracking of asiatsugh equipment calibration and repair chainsluging merchandise
ownership, location, repair status and warrantyecage. Objectives are to gain real-time visibilitiy all repair chain

activities, ensure compliance with warranty andtmual agreements, respond to customer inquivigsup-to-the-minute

repair status, collect and analyze repair stasistic product design improvement, and reduce oweftsich as inventory
carrying costs. Applications support in-house, smb@ctor and vendor calibration and repair; custorand vendor
exchanges and advance exchanges; equipment oncloamge of ownership; merchandise shipments, cloigsnents and
pickups; consolidated repair orders; and, storagerafurbishment programs. Integration with otAstea Alliancemodules

allows repair orders and repair status queriesetaniiiated from customer contact centers, fieldvise, field sales and
warehouses as well as the repair depot.

Alliance Field Service
The Alliance Field Service core application delsver set of automated capabilities intended to tiiea and improve

management of field service activities. By autanwtvorkflow, field service representatives shobkl able to efficiently
complete and document assignments, manage velsistdsa capture expenses and generate revenue htheiddepn sales



during a customer contact. Applications alert dispars to contractual minimum response times amediie coordination
of field force skills matching, scheduling, disgatand repair parts logistics. The use of the Dyinadtheduling Engine
should automate much of this process. The softwapports all field service categories includingipment installations,
break/fix, planned maintenance and meter readipgligations can also be integrated with equipméagmbstic systems for
fully automated solutions that initiate and pri@et service requests and dispatch assignmentsetd &mployees’
smartphones, laptops or tablets without humanvetgron

Alliance Logistics

The Alliance Logistics core application is dividietb three functional portals. These are Supplgi@hnventory Management
and Reverse Supply Chain, reflecting the diversityneeds in this area. Seamlessly integrated wdiles and service
applications, Alliance Logistics enables servicganizations to control inventory costs, managetass®el implement proactive
service management strategies. Automated calonlatif stock profiles based on usage eliminates stveking and
dramatically reduces costs associated with stodegreciating, and insuring inventory. The appilicasupports parts and tools
management for effective field service delivery @etvice Level Agreements compliance. We belidnag improved cost
management improves cash flow by streamlining d&adtasning the cycles from inventory to usage tbrigl Lower logistics
costs open opportunities to recognize higher margmproducts and services. Key areas to applgnik Logistics include
asset management, field service parts/tools maregedemand fulfillment, and sales fulfillment.

Alliance Order Processing

The Alliance Order Processing module provides ghitforward functionality for the management of qiimns and order
fulfillment. Quotations can be created for theesaf products and the provision of field servicdstegration with the
approvals process and the Logistics and Field 8emriodules should ensure efficient managementaosuid sustainable
promises for delivery. This application is ideaByited to the sale of “consumable products” inoeisdion with the
provision of equipment-based services, but candualey applied to the supply of finished produasulting from up-sell
and cross-sell opportunities.

Alliance Professional Services

Alliance Professional Services supports managewfekiiowledge workers, such as those deployed bfepsmnal services
organizations and internal service departmentsaafel organizations. Functionality focuses on plagnideploying and
billing service engagements that can extend forsdayeeks, months and years. Applications are ezgetd improve
resource planning and allocation, workflow managemeonsultant time and expense reporting, subaotdr and vendor
invoice processing, customer billing, and visifildf service engagements. Integration with otheteAsAlliance modules
delivers an end-to-end solution to market, sellpagge and bill professional services. Capabiliteshare sales, service,
project, and post-project field service data acrbgs enterprise, generally enables professionalicess organizations to
operate with less overhead, improved cash flowhdnigrofitability, and more competitive bidding.

Alliance Sales

Alliance Sales consolidates and streamlines thessptocesses of an enterprise, from quote gener#timugh order
processing, at all points of customer contact idiclg field sales, inside sales, contact centerssatel field service sales.
Lead-to-close sales process capabilities inclutegmation with customer support and field servippligations, leveraging
all enterprise knowledge pools with the goal toréase sales opportunities, margins and close r@tassolidated views of
sales and service data also provide a clearer stasheling of enterprise operations to drive stratbgsiness decisions. Sales
force automation application automates businesssrahd practices such as enterprise-defined sadfsodologies, sales
pipeline management, territory management, corgadt opportunity management, forecasting, collabaaeam selling
and literature fulfilment. Other applications prpimcustomer support and service staff to up-sell aross-sell during
contact with customers.

Alliance Dynamic Scheduling Engine (“Alliance DSE”")

Alliance DSE is the next level of field service ednling solutions for a new era of service managgmét is a real-time
scheduling solution designed to optimize and baahe tradeoffs between service cost and levetviice. It addresses the
specific challenges of field service scheduling,levisimultaneously calculating ways to increaseécefficy, accuracy and
profitability with the goal to help users sustaim@mpetitive advantage in today’s volatile envir@m Astea has taken a
scheduling engine that was developed to handleignissitical environments such as emergency responkere a response
time determined life or death, adapted and embedtdetb its core product. We believe that All@nDSE provides for
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maximum flexibility that enables companies to ptoady drive, manage and monitor their technicidhsough demand
forecasting, workforce profiling, and operationgtimization. Astea’s Alliance DSE is designed tthance productivity,
improve business processes and maximize returnvastiment.

Alliance Workforce Planning

Workforce Planning assists in forecasting workforeguirements based on planned and unplanned caddriracks actual
results against the plan. Multiple workforce plazan be created, and plans can be maintained ffaretit groups of
resources and/or different planning periods. TheRkidoce planning module is flexible and can be taged to create plans
that are comprised of days dedicated to only umaerwork, or the workforce can be allocated a peegge of planned work
to be accomplished. Workforce demands for senéchirticians are not always consistent from periogenod or from
branch to branch. This creates a surplus of maapiwvsome locations and a shortage in others.e®as an Alliance
Workforce plan, personnel can be temporarily tramsfl to another branch or action group to take oathe workload. A
workforce plan shows the daily available hoursl&yor, and compares these to the daily activitiemfboth planned and
unplanned selected sources, including PM schedfikdd, change orders, project demands, committddssarders and
unplanned work. Plans can be frozen to compareahbtitne spent against the frozen plan to trackoperance.

Astea Alliance Mobile Applications

Astea’s Alliance Mobility Suite consists of Alliaadviobile Select, which is Astea’s original mobileligion supporting
Windows Mobile devices and Windows laptops, Allian®lobile Universal, and Alliance Third Party Vendwiobile.
Alliance Mobile Universal is optimized to operat@&wthe latest devices in the market including Andrsmartphones and
tablets, iPhones, and iPads. Organizations caasehthe device that works best for their environnaeml still be able to
leverage the most powerful mobile solution desigsedcifically for the way field technicians work.stka’s Alliance
Mobility Suite leverages the latest HTML5 technoldg deliver a sleek and innovative user interfatele still providing
the ability for mobile workers to continue workimdnether they are in or out of wireless coverageldservice technicians’
days are transformed by receiving work orders whioh automatically sent to the device, being ableiéw asset and
service history; customer, account and job sit@rinftion; contract and warranty information; rea®iv step-by-step
guidance to complete the job; capturing customgnature; and completing work orders for invoicifihe real-time
connectivity integrates field sales and servicévagtwith automated front-office processes andnéfiates the time, costs,
procedural delays and errors of paper reportingeEted benefits include reduced field administratiosts; electronic data
sharing among field and in-house personnel; imptosgeed, accuracy, content and compliance of figfbrting; faster
sales order processing and customer service imggieind other operational efficiencies.

Astea Alliance Extended Portals
Alliance Customer Portal

The Alliance Customer Portal is a secure, multelegntry point that supports unattended e-businesssactions for

customer self-service and self-sales. Alliancet@usr Portal empowers customers as it lessens depea on sales and
service staff to conduct transactions that candséopmed over the Internet. It reduces routine @@ind fax calls to customer
contact centers, freeing lines for customers wioisieal needs do require assistance from a sereipeesentative. The pre-
defined Entry-Level, Standard and Enterprise pesfil in connection with a security utility, are ideed to ensure tight
control on access to sensitive data and a rangeatires that can be enabled. It also providethan@hannel to promote
and sell more products and services to an existugjomer base. The customer portal can delay mirglte needs for

contact center expansion and associated increa$asility, equipment and staffing costs.

Alliance Vendor & Third Party Management Portal

The Vendor & Third Party Management portal enalasipanies to manage their external vendors and farty service
providers with a robust, secure and unified platfof his portal can now serve as their single poininformation for all
full-time and out-sourced stakeholders. As a resléty will have the necessary level of upstreamh @mwnstream visibility
and accountability that is a critical stepping stém better service network automation and optitiina. Whether that third
party is an external service agent or a vendorghgplies parts, they will now be able to track amghage all of the parties
that participate in your service supply chain. Theindors and external service agents (SAs) wikehaccess to a secure
portal that allows them to enter, update and vievtipent information as it relates to a serviceeorahd logistics and reverse
logistics functions. Service organizations are dbleasily interconnect their entire service lifdleyecosystem to eliminate
redundant processes and drive ongoing efficiendéidditionally, organizations benefit by increasaslihility, collaboration
and communication.



Astea Alliance Reporting and Business IntelligencgAlliance BI”)

For proactive service management, Alliance Bl pesi highly visual, real-time analysis of businessfgrmance, focusing
on key performance indicators - a tool that faaiéis businesses’ understanding of customer behaMi@nce Bl enables
the viewing of information for the entire entergrisncreasing revenues and identifying new busioppsrtunities. Alliance
Bl has been designed to ensure that users ofralskhave immediate access to crucial informatioaneher it's needed. In
the boardroom, at agent level, or even for custeptéis tool effortlessly allows the viewing of femmance data such as
performance against service level agreements, adnprofitability, product failure rate, repair taround times, customer
satisfaction and engineer efficiency. Reports allmvginesses to see how many orders have met theractual service
ETA and how many failed, which helps organizatibetter understand customer satisfaction. Worklsadsv the available
working hours at a specific location in contrastite demand for workforce planning and optimization

Astea Alliance Tools
Alliance Link

Alliance Link is an enterprise application intedgpatproduct that interfaces Astea Alliance to otaeterprise systems, such
as back-office financial and ERP applications, resmequipment monitoring and diagnostic software] arreless data
transmission services. Alliance Link extends Astdliance’s return on investment for customers byking all Alliance
modules accessible to external software through setvices and open, well defined, synchronous ayhcironous
application programming interfaces that are eXtaadilarkup Language (“XML") based.

Alliance Knowledge Base

Alliance Knowledge Base provides powerful and dolaleenterprise search functionality for corporabatent, across a
network or on a portal, intranet or Internet sbelivering single-point access to enterprise-widéadcollections; full-text
searches can be conducted quickly and easily adligpsirate data sources, improving knowledge rieterdnd sharing
across the organization. Alliance Knowledge Bagersfadvanced functionality for entering queried easults navigation to
help users quickly find the information they ne@tliance Knowledge Base can provide user-friendigess to a vast range
of information, including product manuals, techhicgupport documentation, maintenance histories,airemotes,
announcements, and much more. With search funditipnalliance Knowledge Base becomes much morenthianply an
operations tool; it provides organizations the tdfig to share all sorts of information, improveoplem resolution times,
and improve the quality of decision-making acras®mganization.

FieldCentrix Enterprise Suite

The FieldCentrix Enterprise is a service managersehition that runs on a wide range of mobile desjcand integrates
seamlessly with popular customer relationship mansmt (CRM) and ERP applications. Add-on featimehide a web-
based customer self-service portal, workforce mamamt capabilities, and equipment-centric funclibna FieldCentrix
has licensed applications to companies in a widgeaof sectors including HVAC, building and reatag¢s services,
manufacturing and process instruments and conttots medical equipment.

The current FieldCentrix Enterprise offering cotssisf:

* FX Service Center;

*  FX Mobile;

* FXe-Service;

 FX Fleet Manager;
 FXInterchange;

 FXInterchange for JD Edwards; and
* FX Mobility Express.

FX Service Center

FX Service Center is an Internet-based service gamant and dispatch solution that gives organigatimommand over
their field service operation in order to more effeely manage call taking, entittement verificatjofield personnel
scheduling and dispatching, customer service, wanders, timesheets, service agreements, inventody exjuipment
tracking, pre-invoicing, and reporting. The softeais intuitive, giving organizations graphical pict views of the
scheduling board, work order lists, field servicerker and site locations, and more. Real-timg-duad-drop scheduling
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and re-scheduling take just a few mouse clicks, predscheduling preventive maintenance calls arplsi as well. FX
Service Center makes completed work order and tiggsinformation instantly available for exportan organization’s
accounting, ERP, or CRM system. They can integfateService Center with an organization’s accountiBRP or CRM
system for seamless information flow. FX Resowdtézation is a strategic workforce modeling ta{pected to accurately
plan, track, and analyze service resources intieal- It provides an automated way to size, manage report on resource
capacity and utilization across the enterprisertivide suggestions to deploy resources, cost-éffdgtbalance workloads
and service engineers, and still make sure alligetevel commitments are met and contracts rempedifitable. By adding
FX Resource Utilization as part of the Service @emtodule, organizations have a new tool that sgieed to increase the
productivity and efficiency of their work force argkrvice operations through load balancing andnopéd resource
planning.

FX Mobile

FX Mobile is a workflow software product that useseless communications technology with smartphoitegstops, and
tablets to automate field service processes andlainelp field service personnel do their jobs dretind faster. FX Mobile
leverages the latest HTML5 technology, optimizedtfe latest devices such as Android, iPhone aad,i®d deliver a sleek
and innovative user interface while still providitige ability for mobile workers to continue workimghether they are in or
out of wireless coverage. With FieldCentrix's teclogy, field service workers are be able to conepleir work,
uninterrupted, regardless of wireless coverage.ondl with FX Service Center, FX Mobile eliminatese timanual
inefficiencies and paperwork that can overwhelnviser technicians and an organization’s businessith \WX Mobile,
service technicians receive work orders electrdiyica their mobile devices. It then guides thestreen by screen, through
the job — prompting them to perform standard tatMdse notes, and even record future recommendedrsepr activities.
With FX Mobile, field service personnel can now sgeheir time in the field, better serving customegenerating new
business, and increasing organizations’ bottonslineX Mobile is an international offering that papts various languages,
as well as currencies, measurement systems anadines.

FX e-Service

FX e-Service is an extension of the FieldCentrifugon that provides a dynamic customer self-servyiortal that links
directly from a customer’s web site. When integdatvith FX Mobile software, it provides the unigcapability to truly
deliver real-time information from the point of e to your customers. Working seamlessly with$ervice Center call
center and dispatching software, FX e-Service gi@asorganization’s customers the flexibility of suitting service
requests, accessing work order information, andagiag their account over the Internet. Customarsreceive an e-mail
notification each time the status of a work ordearges. This allows them to know instantly whes rbquest has been
received, scheduled, is in progress and whercibigplete — all without ever calling into the offiagaiting on hold or taking
up valuable CSR resource.

FX Fleet Manager

FX Fleet Manager is FieldCentrix’s Global PositiogiSystem offering to help customers manage theibile resources
more effectively. FX Fleet Manager gives compatiestrol and management of their field operationth e expectation
that they will make decisions that will increaseffiability, reduce service costs, enhance custorasponsiveness and
satisfaction, and improve productivity and efficignWith FX Fleet Manager, dispatchers and offieespnnel will always
know where mobile resources are located — in iie@d-t Are they where they should be? Are they Idst® they safe?
There’s an emergency service request — which resaarthe closest with the right parts and skiis3&\ll this information
and more should contribute to more efficiently ngathmobile resources.

FX Interchange

FX Interchange software provides data transportsegvices that allow enterprises to quickly and Igasitegrate
FieldCentrix Enterprise to existing legacy and bhass systems — that are expected to maximize fadoefield data. FX
Interchange converts data stored in FX Service e&2datowledge base to XML or a Microsoft SQL Serdatabase. Once

converted, the data is accessible to other sysfembasic billing and payroll extraction, and bretitional integration
purposes that should support the needs of an atinguaall center, or service dispatch integrat@dtson.

FX Interchange for JD Edwar@s

FieldCentrix field service automation software aiizl Edward$ Enterprise and EnterpriseOne applications argiated to
provide medium to large companies with an easys®-lcost-effective way to streamline and automathl fservice
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operations. The systems are integrated throughrEetdhange™ for JD Edwards. This interface dynahtyidransfers key
customer, work order, and accounting related infdiom between the FieldCentrix and JD Edwards apfitins. This
means the key functions that organizations needinaheir business efficiently and cost-effectivale now seamless and
completed electronically — without paper.

With the FieldCentrix and JD Edwards solution, s&rworkers in the field access and enter all wardter information
using a mobile device at the job site. When thekwsrdone, the service worker closes the work oedet the completed
information is sent wirelessly back to the officatamatically. The electronic information is instgnaccessible for
processing by an organization’s billing systemlseré's no data entry needed. Because you alsongerldave to wait for
the field service worker to bring in the paperwbgore you can close the work order, customersedrilled quicker.

FX Mobility Expres®“

For customers who want to mobilize their workfovg¢hout deploying a full field service automatioolstion, FieldCentrix

offers a special mobilized application developmntentkit called FX Mobility Express™. The FX Mob#itExpress toolkit is

bundled with FieldCentrix’s popular mobile middlewaand allows organizations to quickly and easilifdocustom mobile

applications that fully leverage FieldCentrix's ustb and scalable mobile infrastructure and usenély interface.

Mobilizing applications with FX Mobility Express shld provide organizations with a cost-effectiveywa create a solution
that fits their unique business requirements ofatiggm built from years of mobile and wirelesshaology experience and
used by thousands of users worldwide.

Astea Client Services

Professional Services

Astea’s typical professional services engagementcluites planning, prototyping and implementing
Astea’s products within the client's organizatiorSome customers may require customization, but #reyrelatively
insignificant.

During the initial planning phase of the engagemehstea’s professional services personnel work edjoswith
representatives of the customer to prepare a ddtpibject plan that includes a timetable, resotgqeirements, milestones,
in-house training programs, onsite business prottagsing and demonstrations of Astea’s productatdlfiies within the
customer’s organization.

The next phase of the Astea professional servingagement is the prototyping phase, in which Asteeks closely with
representatives of the customer to configure Astesdftware solutions to the customer’'s specificifess process
requirements.

The next integral phase in the professional sesvasggagement is the implementation phase, in whstha's professional
services personnel work with the client to devellgpailed data mapping, conversions, interfacesaihdr technical and
business processes necessary to integrate AstehiSoss into the customer’s computing environmentlitimately,
education plans are developed and executed todwdhie customer with the process and system kngelegcessary to
effectively utilize the software and fully implentethe solution. Professional services are genecddifrged on an hourly or
daily basis.

The last phase of the engagement utilizes Astaa@fegsional services personnel to assigeoLiveplanning and th&o
Live effort. Astea will assist in the planning for iakkation, initialization, data preparation, opevatl procedures, schedules
and required resources. The initialization andtawaaof the production database is planned andgvezbfor the data history,
open orders and all required data for go live pseirtey. During the cutover to the solution, Asteaibess resources are best
utilized to assist new users with functionality/pesses while Astea technical resources suppodustemer’s IT staff.

Following go live, Astea’s professional servicearteengages the customer in fhesessment Phas®uring this effort, the
delivered system is assessed to validate benafitdyze processes to measure key performance fodicaocument and
understand lessons learned. To perform these sagents, Astea consultants collect and analyze liened benefits,
processes used to capture and report on the kéyrpamnce indicators, and document the lessonsdddinom all phases of
the implementation. An action plan is then devetbfrom the lessons learned and key performandeaitois for use in
future phases and/or releases.
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Technical Services

Astea’s technical services teams provide servieldead to installation, data verification, functiiesign, technical design,
system infrastructure setup or changes, custoroimtiQuality Assurance (QA) activities, testing aywl live support.
Initially, software and database installation reses are available to prepare the environmenti®ptototyping phase.

Data verification and feedback services can beigealfor initial data verification analysis. Theskorts are conducted to
determine the present state of information as $atype, conversions, data manipulation, locatioeqdency, method of
interface (initial load, ongoing load, data expmrdata import) and data integrity. Findings abeumented and shared with
the project team.

During the implementation phase, Astea’s techngmlices team is often engaged to assist with timetibnal and/or

technical design as related to customer desiregrsypersonalization, minor customization and iategk, often referred to
as ‘gaps’. Gap solutions are assessed and catedanto system, studio, customization or interfatkilizing the services

of the customer project team, Astea professionalices and Astea technical services create Busifesguirement

Documents (“BRDs") for all customizations and ifiéees. Astea technical services will provide sfieations and a quote
for the customization. The customer and Asteaeagrethe outcome of the customization and all etgueoutputs prior to

the actual development customization. Followingeptance of the BRDs, code will be written as pesigh. QA of the

code with test data sets will complete these effort

Astea’s technical services team will also provielgting and go live support, as required.
Customer Support

Astea’s customer support organization providesarusts with telephone and online technical supmstyell as product
enhancements, updates and new software releadss.Cdmpany can provide 24X7 “follow-the-sun” sugpirough its
global support network. Local representatives suppll regions of Astea’s worldwide operations.tées personnel or a
distributor’'s personnel familiar with local busisesustoms and practices provide support in rea-timd usually spoken in
native languages. Typically, customer support feesestablished as a fixed percentage of liceresedad are invoiced to
customers on an annual basis. Astea’s customepsugpresentatives are located in the United Std&arope, Israel, Japan
and Australia. In addition, Astea provides custosigpport 24X7 with its self-service portal. Thaimenance offering
provides customers with support and help desk sesyias well as software service packs and unggecidlease upgrades
for the modules they have purchased.

Education & Training

Application Training:

Key business owners responsible for the implemiemtaif the core components will receive in-deptiirting designed to
present the features, functionality and terminolafyAstea’s solutions. The objective of this traigiis to provide the
audience with a working knowledge of these solgioifhis exposure to the system will enable projectmunication and
add insight into specific business processes.

End-user training plans and documents are createdgdthe implementation phase. These plans amdrdentation are
utilized to conduct end-user training sessionsrgaapo live.

Technical Training:

Software and database installation/creation trgifsrprovided, as required and/or recommended.

System Administration training provides the customdT staff pre-requisite knowledge to manipulsdaed manage
administrative tasks associated with the Asteatiemis. Included within these tasks are: Seculsich Applications,
Escalation, Import, etc.

Many customers are interested in performing th&in gersonalization and minor customization to thstem. Training

sessions are available to enhance customer undgirsgaof available options for personalization amuv to perform
customizations.
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Customers

The Company estimates that it hesld licenses toapproximately650 customers ranging from small, rapidly growing
companies to large, multinational corporations wgegographically dispersed operations and remotieestf The broad
applicability of the Company’s products is demoat&d by the wide range of companies across manketsaand industries
that use one or more of Astea’s products, includingtomers in information technology, medical desiand diagnostic
systems, industrial controls and instrumentatioetail/point-of-sale systems equipment, HVAC, offieitomation
equipment, imaging systems, fire and security, gagffiéisure equipment, facilities management, teteooinications and
other related industries with equipment sales amdice. In 2015 there was one customer that atceduior 12% of total
revenues and in 2014 there was no one customeacthatinted for 10% or more of total revenues.

Sales and Marketing

The Company markets its products through a worléwigtwork of direct and indirect sales and servigHiges with
corporate headquarters in the United States andnagheadquarters in the United Kingdom (Européddié East and
Africa Operations), Japan and Australia (Asia Radperations). Sales partners include distrilutealue-added resellers,
system integrators and sales agents) and OEM psrtriehe Company actively seeks to expand its lexseetwork and
establish an international indirect distributioranhel targeted at the mid-market tier. See “Ra&térs — Need to Expand
Indirect Sales.”

Astea’s direct sales force employs a consultatpfgr@ach to selling, working closely with prospeetidients to understand
and define their needs and determine how such resmdbe addressed by the Company’s products. Tdhiesgs typically
represent the mid- to high-end of the market. Aspect development organization comprised of telketiag
representatives, who are engaged in outbound teketvag and inbound inquiry response to a varidtgnarketing vehicles,
develops and qualifies sales leads prior to refféoréhe direct sales staff. Additional prospeats identified and qualified
through the networking of direct sales staff arel @ompany’s management as part of daily busindastis.

The modular structure of Astea’s software and fitgaing product development efforts provide oppdties for incremental
sales of product modules and consulting servicexitting accounts. See “Risk Factors — Continuegdhdence on Large
Contracts May Result in Lengthy Sales and Impleat@n Cycles and Impact Revenue Recognition andh Caswv.”

Astea’s corporate marketing department is resptmsitor product marketing, lead generation and miamge

communications, including the Company’s corporaébsite, dialogue with high tech industry analyst@de conferences,
advertising, e-marketing, online and traditionams®ars, direct mail, product collateral and puhbi@gations. Based on
feedback from customers, analysts, business paramet market data, the marketing department previgmit and direction

for the Company’s ongoing product development ¢fand opportunities for professional servicesThe Company also
participates in an annual conference for usersgié# Alliance and FieldCentrix products. Confeesparticipants attend
training sessions, workshops and presentationsirggicict with other Astea product users, Asteaagament and staff, and
technology partners, providing important inputfisiure product direction.

Astea’s international sales accounted for 35% ef@ompany’s revenues in 2015 and 38% of the Compaayenues in
2014. See “Risk Factors — Expansion of Internati@ales.”

Product Development

Astea’s product development strategy is to proypidelucts that perform with exceptional depth arehdth of functionality

and are easy to implement, use and maintain. Bteduwe designed to be flexible, modular and sta|a that they can be
implemented incrementally in phases and expandesdtiefy the evolving information requirements oftéa’s clients and
their customers.

The Company uses widely accepted commercially abksl application development tools from Microsoftrg@oration.
These software tools provide the Company’s custeméth the flexibility to deploy Astea’s productsrass a variety of
hardware platforms, operating systems and reldtidaizmbase management systems. The latest Astiem@dl solution suite
is engineered for existing and emerging Microsetthinologies such as Microsoft. NET Framework, Visgaldio 2012,
Windows Presentation Framework, Internet InfororatServer, and supports Windows 7, Windows 8, Wivgld.0,
Windows Server 2012 & 2012 R2, MS SQL 2012 & 2012, RIS SQL 2015, Oracle Databases 10 & 11, and BkzTa
Server. Astea Alliance also supports deploymentsoith on-premise as well as cloud environmentselgriaging a multi-
tenant architecture. This multi-tenant architectaupports running the application using one sehafdware/software,
serving multiple client organizations (tenants)eTdomputing resources and application code arerginshared between

14



all the tenants on a server. Each tenant has its s of data that remains logically isolated frdata that belongs to all
other tenants.

In addition to product development that is conddcé& Company facilities in the United States angdk Astea may
participate in contractual relationships with coempéntary technology companies to reduce time-tdcatawith new
product capabilities in order to continually incseats value proposition to existing and prospectivstomers.

The Company’s expense for product developmentHeryears ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was231088and

$1,350,000, respectively. These expenses amountégtand 7% of total revenues for 2015 and 201sheetively. The
Company’s capitalized software development costewe,407,000 and $2,532,000 in 2015 and 2014eotisply. Total

software development costs decreased $93,000 #@B8%$800 in 2015 compared to $3,882,000 in 2014. Tbhenpany

anticipates that it will continue to allocate suaipdial resources to its development effort for thmgrade of its suite of
products. See “Management’s Discussion and AnalysFinancial Condition and Results of Operatiosst “Risk Factors
— Need for Development of New Products.”

Manufacturing

The Company'’s software products are distributedC8nROMs and electronically via a client-server fitansfer protocol.
Included with the software products are securityskéa software piracy protection) and documentativailable on CD
ROM and hard copy. Historically, the Company haschased media and duplicating and printing sesvioe its product
packaging from outside vendors.

Competition

The service management software market is inter@lypetitive and subject to rapid change. To na@inbr increase its
position in the industry, the Company will neecctmtinually enhance its current product offeringsoduce new products
and features and maintain its professional sendegsbilities. The Company currently competesheniiasis of the depth
and breadth of its integrated product features famdtions, including the adaptability and scaldbilof its products to

specific customer environments; the ability to dgptomplex systems locally, regionally, nationadligd internationally;

product quality; ease-of-use; reliability and penfiance; breadth of professional services; integmatif Astea’s offerings
with other enterprise applications; price; and dvailability of Astea’s products on popular opargtisystems, relational
databases, Internet and communications platforms.

Competitors vary in size, scope and breadth ofptteelucts and services offered. The Company eneamompetition
generally from a number of sources, including osaftware companies, third-party professional smwiorganizations that
develop custom software, and information systemgadments of potential customers developing progmne custom
software. In the service management marketpldee Company competes against publicly held companiesnumerous
smaller, privately held companies. Some of the @amy’s competitors include SAP AG (“SAP”), Oracler@oration
(“Oracle”), and a number of smaller privately heldmpanies. See “Risk Factors — Competition in @M Software
Market is Intense.”

Licenses and Intellectual Property

Astea considers its software proprietary and liesnigs products to its customers under writtennbeeagreements. The
Company also employs an encryption system thatictsse user’s access to source code to furtheegrehe Company’s
intellectual property. Because the Company’s petalallow customers to use the software’s builteiatures to customize
their applications without altering the framewordusce code, the framework source code for the Cagipgroducts is
typically neither licensed nor provided to custosaeiThe Company does, however, license source todetime to time
and maintains certain third-party source code @samangements. See “— Customers” and “Managem@&iscussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Garms.”

The Company seeks to protect its products througbrabination of copyright, trademark, trade seemd fair business
practice laws. The Company also requires emplgyeessultants and third parties to sign nondise®sagreements.
Despite these precautions, it may be possible riauthorized parties to copy certain portions of@leenpany’s products or
reverse engineer or obtain and use information tth@tCompany regards as proprietary. The Compaeseptly has no
patents or patent applications pending. See “R&kors — Dependence on Proprietary Technology.”

Because the software development industry is cteniaed by rapid technological change, Astea bebahat factors such as
the technological and creative skills of its persginnew product developments, frequent producaecéments, and reliable
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product maintenance are more important to estabjisind maintaining a technology leadership pasitlean current legal
protections.

Employees

As of December 31, 2015, the Company, includingitissidiaries, had a total of 166 full-time empleyavorldwide, 83 in

the United States, 15 in the United Kingdom, 3hia Netherlands, 43 in Israel, 12 in Australia afidrilJapan. In addition,
we have 5 part-time employees, 2 in the UnitedeStaaind 3 in Israel. The Company's future perforeeadepends, in
significant part, upon the continued service okiy technical and management personnel and itsncimg ability to attract

and retain highly qualified and motivated persorinddll areas of its operations. See “Risk Facter®ependence on Key
Personnel; Competition for Employees.” None of @wmpany’s employees is represented by a labor unidre Company

has not experienced any work stoppages and cosstdeelationships with its employees to be good.

Corporate History

The Company was incorporated in Pennsylvania if1@¥der the name Applied System Technologies, lmc1992, the
Company changed its name to Astea International Iuntil 1986, the Company operated principally aasoftware-
consulting firm, providing professional softwarensalting services on a fee for service and on geptdasis. In 1986, the
Company introduced its DISPATCH-1 product. In Noder 1991, the Company’'s sole stockholder acquites
outstanding stock of The DATA Group Corporation &8 Group”), a provider of field service softwaredarelated
professional services for the mainframe-computingirenment. Data Group was merged into the Comganyanuary
1994. In February 1995, the Company and its stdekbholder acquired the outstanding stock of AsBmavice &
Distribution Systems BV (“Astea BV”), the Companysstributor of DISPATCH-1 and related serviceEirope. In May
1995, the Company reincorporated in Delaware.uln 1995, the Company completed its initial puldfering of Common
Stock. In February 1996, the Company merged withdaita, Inc. In June 1996, the Company acquirealofbAB. In
September 1998 (effective July 1, 1998), the Compatd Bendata, Inc. In December 1998, the Comsaiy Abalon AB.
In December 1997, the Company introduced Servica@Ade and in October 1999, SalesAlliance. Bothdpets were
subsequently re-engineered into components of fhian8eEnterprise suite which was introduced in 200hrough 2001
and into 2002, the Company rebuilt its product fiomality for Web-based applications and in Aug@e03 introduced
Astea Alliance version 6. The Company releasedva system architecture based on Microsoft. NET dyitire third quarter
of 2004. On September 21, 2005, the Company aedjubstantially all the assets and certain ligsliof FieldCentrix,
Inc. In the first quarter of 2010, the Companyivdged Astea Alliance version 10.0. In 2011, Asteanched Alliance
Mobile Universal to deliver enterprise functionglibptimized for the latest devices such as Andrdkhone and iPad
leveraging the latest HTML5 technology. In 201% tatest software version, Astea Alliance 11.0 vedsased. With this
release, Astea introduced an abundance of newrésaand enhancements that were developed basedram primary
concepts; optimizing and streamlining processesablarg proactive service insight and intelligendeesery level, and
significantly increasing ease of use and custonioimat without technical skills. Accelerated revergrewth, proactive
intelligence, productivity and process optimizafi@nriched employee interaction experience, andeased customer
satisfaction are just a few of the advantages argéions will be able to achieve with this releaAstea Alliance is available
either as an on-premise or cloud application, dhigwevery company to choose the right offering thligns with their
strategy and IT ecosystem. In 2014, Astea introdutstea Alliance 11.5. This release introduced maew innovations
such as third party vendor mobile app, advancetbmigation capabilities, additional reporting areskboard capabilities,
as well as extending reports and visual indicatothe mobile deviceWith Astea’s latest mobile release, organizaticas c
create sales quotations, perform inventory cyclentsy support complex items with subcomponentsaterand support
different workflows/apps for different groups/typeswork, and much more. Astea’s mobile solutioovpdes the level of
flexibility necessary that makes it easy for orgations to modify and adapt the solution withouediag development
skillsets or adding additional costs. In Februa®l® Astea released v12, and subsequently reledse8 in September
2015. Astea Alliance Version 12.0 included schedulenhancements, additional visualization and bolation tools,
optimized navigation, as well as humerous custoanien features from around the globe. Astea Ai@md2.0 delivered a
number of noteworthy advancements that help conegawmiccelerate response times, improve the oveusomer
experience, and gain instant access to actionatddlijence. Astea Alliance Version 12.5 includeétesh, new Customer
Self-Service Portal, a new Service Manager Anadytdpp, and many additional features designed tomipeg service
outcomes. Additional enhancements were also degdlap the areas of scheduling optimization, knogkdanagement,
mobile field service, and logistics.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following discussion of the Company’s risk fast should be read in conjunction with the finahsimtements and
related notes thereto set forth elsewhere in #gyp®nt. The following factors, among others, cocddise actual results to
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differ materially from those set forth in forwardloking statements contained or incorporated byreefee in this report and
presented by management from time to time. Suctofs, among others, may have a material advefsetafpon the
Company’s business, results of operations and ¢iaanondition.

History of Net Losses

The Company has a history of net losses. In 20E5Company generated a net loss of $4.4 millionpzoed to a net loss of
$3.4 million in 2014. As of December 31, 2015, @empany had an accumulated deficit of approxinga®85.8 million.
Moreover, the Company expects to continue to iredditional operating expenses for research andla@went and
investment in software development costs to achisverojected revenue growth. There is no asseréimat the Company
may be able to achieve the necessary revenue gavgtofitability in the future. If the Company e® not attain or sustain
profitability or raise additional equity or debttime future, the Company may be unable to contitsugperations.

Need for Development of New Products

The Company’s future success will depend uponbtityato enhance its current products and develod introduce new
products on a timely basis that keep pace with neldyical developments, industry standards and iticeeasingly

sophisticated needs of its customers, includingelbgpments within the client/server, thin-client aonbject-oriented
computing environments. Such developments mayimegérom time to time, substantial capital investits by the
Company in product development and testing. Then@@my intends to continue its commitment to redeaand

development and its efforts to develop new produactd product enhancements. There can be no aesuthat the
Company will not experience difficulties that couldlay or prevent the successful development, dinicbon and marketing
of new products and product enhancements; thatpreducts and product enhancements will meet theinements of the
marketplace and achieve market acceptance; orthleaCompany’s current or future products will canfoto industry

requirements. Furthermore, reallocation of resesifsy the Company, such as the diversion of relsesrd development
personnel to development of a particular featureafgotential or existing customer, can delay neadpcts and certain
product enhancements. Some of our customers atloptesoftware on an incremental basis. Theseomests may not
expand usage of our software on an enterprise-bédés or implement new software products introdungthe Company.
The failure of the software to perform to customepectations or otherwise to be deployed on an@tige-wide basis could
have a material adverse effect on the Companyityabd collect revenues or to increase revenuesfnew as well as
existing customers. If the Company is unable teetti® and market new products or enhancements isfirex products

successfully, the Company’s ability to remain cotitpwe in the industry will be materially adverseatffected.

Rapid Technological Change

In the software industry there is a continual eraaog of new technologies and continual change stoawer requirements.
Because of the rapid pace of technological changthé application software industry, the Compangisrent market
position could be rapidly eroded by product advameets. In order to remain competitive, the Compagt introduce new
products or product enhancements that meet cussbmeguirements in a timely manner. If the Comp&ynable to do
this, it may lose current and prospective custon@ec®mpetitors.

The Company’s application environment relies prilgann software development tools from Microsoft rGoration. If
alternative software development tools were to esighed and generally accepted by the marketplaeecould be at a
competitive disadvantage relative to companies eyipd) such alternative developmental tools.

While the Company has licensed Astea Alliance ter@00 companies worldwide from 1998 through 2@t more than
50 companies for the FieldCentrix suite supportgthe Company since September 2005, revenues fatas of both Astea
Alliance and FieldCentrix may not be sufficientstapport the expenses of the Company. The Compéutyie success will
depend mainly on its ability to increase licensesgra of both the Astea Alliance suite and Field@erdfferings, on
developing new products and product enhancememsrplement its existing product offerings, onalslity to continue to
generate professional services, support and maintenrevenues to Astea Alliance and FieldCentrstamers and on its
ability to control its operating expenses. Anydee of the Company’s products to achieve or snstaarket acceptance, or
of the Company to sustain its current positionhia €RM software market due to rapid technologitanges, would have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s businadsrasults of operations. There can be no assartnat the Company
will be able to increase demand for Astea Alliaacel FieldCentrix products, maintain an acceptadell of support and
maintenance revenues or to lower its expenseglii@voiding future losses.
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Burdens of Customization

On rare occasions, the Company’s clients may recigsificant customization of Astea Alliance anié|ECentrix products
to address unique characteristics of their busesess computing environments. In these situatitims,Company would
apply contract accounting to determine the recammitof license revenues. The Company’'s commitmintthe
customization could place a burden on its cliepipsut resources or delay the delivery or instalatf products, which, in
turn, could materially adversely affect its relasbip with significant clients or otherwise advdysaffect business and
results of operations. In addition, the Companyl@¢ancur penalties or reductions in revenues #&lufes to develop or
timely deliver new products or product enhancemanmtsler development agreements and other arrangenwaittt
customers. If customers are not able to customizeéeploy the Company’s products successfully,dhgtomer may not
complete expected product deployment, which woulk/gnt recognition of revenues and collection obants due, and
could result in claims against the Company.

Product Defects; Failure to Meet Performance Critera

The Company’s software is intended for use in g@mise-wide applications that may be critical todtsstomers’ business.
As a result, customers and potential customersaylyi demand strict requirements for installatiord aleployment. The
Company’s software products are complex and majagonndetected errors or failures, particularlyewlsoftware must be
customized for a particular customer, when firdstaduced or when new versions are released. Adthdhe Company
conducts extensive product testing during prodestetbpment, the Company has at times delayed coomheelease of
software until problems were corrected and, in soa®es, has provided enhancements to correct émrrkeased software.
The Company could, in the future, lose revenuemaur additional and unexpected costs as a re$udoftware errors or
defects. Despite testing by the Company and byeotiand potential customers, errors in the sotwaustomizations or
releases might not be detected until after initgtcommercial shipments, which could result in &ddal costs, delays,
possible damage to the Company’s reputation anttlatause diminished demand for the Company’s prisddchis could

lead to customer dissatisfaction and reduce therdppity to renew maintenance contracts or sell hesnses.

Our Sales Cycles Can be Long, Unpredictable and Rage Considerable Time and Expense, Which May Causeur
Operating Results to Fluctuate

The timing of our closing sales to customers ifidift to predict. These efforts require us to eamtecour customers about the
use and benefit of our services, including the iz capabilities and potential cost savings tmeganization. customers
typically undertake a significant evaluation pracéisat has in the past resulted in a lengthy sateke, typically between
four and twelve months. We spend substantial tieffert and money on our sales efforts without asguaance that our
efforts will produce any sales. In addition, seeveubscriptions are frequently subject to budgestraints and unplanned
administrative, processing and other delays. Bsakpected from a specific customer for a pagrcgliarter are not realized
in that quarter or at all, our results could fdibg of public expectations, and our business djperaesults and financial
condition could be adversely affected from quatteguarter.

Continued Dependence on Large Contracts May Resulh Lengthy Sales and Implementation Cycles and Impet
Revenue Recognition and Cash Flow

The sale and implementation of the Company’s prtedgenerally involve a significant commitment oSoarces by
prospective customers. As a result, the Compasglss process is often subject to delays assoaiathdengthy approval
processes attendant to significant capital experelit definition of special customer implementatiequirements, and
extensive contract negotiations with the customiérerefore, the sales cycle varies substantiatiyjnfcustomer to customer
and typically lasts between four and twelve montH3uring this time the Company may devote significtime and
resources to a prospective customer, includingscassociated with multiple site visits, product destrations and
feasibility studies. The Company may experiencriaber of significant delays over which the Compaag no control.
Because the costs associated with the sale ofrtitrigt are fixed in current periods, there may kegebetween the time the
Company incurs costs with regard to a particulast@mer or contract and the time the Company betfingeceive or
recognize revenues from such customer or contrdareover, in the event of any downturn in any s or potential
customer’s business or the economy in generalhases of the Company’s products may be deferredrareled.

In addition, the implementation of the Company’sdurcts typically takes several months of integratid the product with

the customer’s other existing systems and custdragning requires a close working relationship begtw the customer and
members of the Company’s professional service azgdon. These issues make it difficult to predie quarter in which

expected orders will occur. Delays in implemepotatdf products could cause some or all of the psifmal services

revenues from those projects to be shifted fronettpgected quarter to a subsequent quarter or gsiarte
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When the Company has provided consulting servioeisnplement certain larger projects, some custorharse delayed

payment of a portion of license fees until impletagion was complete and in some cases have disphgecbnsulting fees
charged for implementation. There can be no assarghe Company will not experience additional gelar disputes

regarding payment in the future, particularly i€ t@ompany receives orders for large, complex ilagtahs. Additionally, as

a result of the application of the revenue recagmitules applicable to the Company’s licenses unydmerally accepted
accounting principles, license revenues may begrdzed in periods after those in which the respeditenses were signed.
The Company believes that period-to-period compassof its results of operations should not beetkelupon as any
indication of future performance.

We Cannot Accurately Predict Subscription Renewalfates and the Impact These Rates May Have on Our Eure
Revenue and Operating Results

Our customers have no obligation to renew theirsstiptions for our cloud service after the expwoatiof their initial
subscription period, which is typically 36 monthSome customers may elect not to renew. In additan customers may
renew for fewer users or renew for shorter conttawgths. We cannot accurately predict attritiotesagiven our varied
customer base and the number of multi-year suligmmigontracts. Our attrition rates may increaséiumtuate as a result of
a number of factors, including customer dissattgfacwith our service, customers’ spending levdkegreases in the number
of users at our customers, pricing changes andideteng general economic conditions. If our cuséoss do not renew their
subscriptions for our subscription services or oedihe number of paying subscriptions at the tifneenewal, our revenue
will decline and our business may suffer.

Our future success also depends in part on outyatalsell new and additional services and/or nm&rbscription service to
new and existing customers. The rate at which astoeners purchase new licenses or upgraded semémnds on a
number of factors, including general economic cthods and that our customers do not react neggtieehny price changes
related to these services. If our efforts to sehéw and existing customers are not successfubusiness may suffer.

Fluctuations in Quarterly Operating Results May BeSignificant

The Company’s quarterly operating results havehan gast and may in the future vary significantlpeteding on factors
such as:

* revenue from software sales;

» timing of new product releases;

» market acceptance of new and enhanced versiohg @dampany’s products;

e customer order deferrals in anticipation of enhame®ts or new products;

» size and timing of significant orders, the recoignitof revenue from such orders;

» changes in pricing policies by the Company andadispetitors;

» introduction of alternative technologies;

» changes in operating expenses;

» changes in the Company'’s strategy;

e personnel changes; and

» effect of potential acquisitions by the Company #@aadompetitors.

The Company has limited or no control over mantheke factors. Due to all these factors, it issitids that in some future
quarter the Company’s operating results will bearially adversely affected.

Fluctuations in Quarterly Operating Results Due toSeasonal Factors

The Company expects to experience fluctuationshan gale of licenses for its products due to seadsagtors. The

Company has experienced and anticipates that it exggrience relatively lower sales in the firstcéisquarter due to
patterns in capital budgeting and purchasing cyofesurrent and prospective customers. The Compdsty expects that
sales may decline during the summer months ofhitsl tquarter, particularly in the European marketgloreover, the

Company generally records most of its total quirtiérense revenues in the third month of the gerantvith a concentration
of these revenues in the last half of that thirdntho This concentration of license revenues ituérfced by customer
tendencies to make significant capital expenditaeshe end of a fiscal quarter. The Company etsp#tese revenue
patterns to continue for the foreseeable futurehusT its results of operations may vary seasoriallgccordance with
licensing activity, and will also depend upon regitign of revenue from such licenses from timeitoet The Company
believes that period-to-period comparisons ofetutts of operations are not necessarily meaniragfdishould not be relied
upon as an indication of future performance.
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Impairment of Intangible Assets

If goodwill becomes impaired, it could impact owsults of operations and financial position in teporting period

identified. Our identifiable intangible assets eptcéor goodwill, were fully amortized as of Septesnt30, 2015. The only
intangible asset remaining was goodwill. We asHsspotential impairment of goodwill on at leastannual basis, as well
as whenever events or changes in circumstancesatadihat the carrying value may not be recoverdtdetors that could
trigger an impairment of such assets, include dewing:

» significant underperformance relative to historicaprojected future operating results;

« significant changes in the manner of or use ofttguired assets or the strategy for our overalihless;

» significant negative industry or economic trends;

» significant decline in our stock price for a suséal period;

« changes in our organization or management repostingture that could result in additional repagtimits,
which may require alternative methods of estimafaigvalues or greater disaggregation or aggregat our
analysis by reporting unit; and

» adecline in our market capitalization below nedkwalue.

On October 1, 2015, we performed our annual impamriest, which resulted in a goodwill impairmehaige of $1.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2015. Bmuehe impairment charge as of December 31, 20Héretis no
remaining value of goodwill reported on our balashbeet.

Competition in the CRM Software Market is Intense

The Company competes in the CRM software markehis Tarket is highly competitive and the Companypests
competition in the market to increase. The Comjsmngmpetitors include large public companies sastOracle, which
owns PeopleSoft and Siebel, as well as traditidbBBP software providers such as SAP that are dewvgjoERM
capabilities. In addition, a number of smallevately held companies generally focus only on @isciareas of the CRM
software marketplace. Because the barriers toy émtthe CRM software market are relatively lowwneompetitors may
emerge with products that are superior to the Caryiggproducts or that achieve greater market aecegt Moreover, the
CRM industry is currently experiencing significarinsolidation, as larger public companies seelnitereahe CRM market
through acquisitions or establish other cooperatefationships among themselves, thereby enhanitieg ability to
compete in this market with their combined resosirc&ome of the Company’s existing and potentishpetitors have
greater financial, technical, marketing and disttiln resources than the Company. These and cttrapetitors pose
business risks to the Company because:

» they compete for the same customers that the Coyrtpas to attract;

« if the Company loses customers to its competiibreay be difficult or impossible to win them back;

* lower prices and a smaller market share could lihngtCompany’s revenue generating ability, reditsegross
margins and restrict its ability to become padfle or sustain profitability; and

» competitors may be able to devote greater resoum@sore quickly respond to emerging technologied a
changes in customer requirements or to the devedaprpromotion and sales of their products.

There can be no assurance that the Company wableto compete successfully against current anddicompetitors or
that competitive pressures faced by the Companynailadversely affect its business and resultpefrations.

Part of our Business is Dependent on Market Demantbr, and Acceptance of, the Cloud-based Model forhie Use of
Software

We derive, and expect to continue to derive a gngvgercentage of our revenue from the sale of elmmkd services. As a
result, widespread acceptance and use of the dlasdd business model is critical to our future ginoand success. Under
the perpetual or periodic license model for sofawprocurement, users of the software typically applications on their

hardware. Because companies are generally preéidgosmaintaining control of their IT systems anfidastructure, there

may be resistance to the concept of accessingitigidnality that software provides as a servieceugh a third party. If the

market for cloud-based, software solutions ceasgsdw or grows more slowly than we currently aipate, demand for our

services could be negatively affected.
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Dependence on Proprietary Technology

The Company depends heavily on proprietary tectyyofor its business to succeed. The Company leits products to
customers under license agreements containing, @rotirer terms, provisions protecting against thautimorized use,
copying and transfer of the licensed program. dditeon, the Company relies on a combination ofi¢raecrets, copyright
and trademark laws and confidentiality proceduresptotect the Company’s proprietary rights in itoducts and
technology. The legal protection is limited, howev Unauthorized parties could copy aspects ofGbmpany’s products
and obtain and use information that the Companyebes is proprietary. Other parties may breachfidentiality
agreements or other contracts they have made hétftCompany. Policing unauthorized use of the Coyigasoftware is
difficult and, while the Company is unable to detare the extent to which piracy of its software quots exists, software
piracy can be expected to be a persistent probiEmere can be no assurance that any of the measalssby the Company
will be adequate to protect its proprietary techglor that its competitors will not independerdigvelop technologies that
are substantially equivalent or superior to the @any’s technologies. If the Company fails to sesfaly enforce its
proprietary technology, its competitive positionynee harmed.

Other software providers could develop similar texthgy independently, which may infringe on the @amy’s proprietary
rights. The Company may not be able to detecingédment and may lose a competitive position inniaeket before it does
so. In addition, competitors may design aroundGbenpany’s technology or develop competing techgiel The laws of
some foreign countries do not protect the Compapsoprietary rights to the same extent as do thws Iaf the United States.
Litigation may be necessary to enforce the Compmapgoprietary rights. Such litigation is time-cansng, has an uncertain
outcome and could result in substantial costs amdrglon of management’s attention and resource®wever, if the
Company fails to successfully enforce its proprietaghts, the Company’s competitive position mayHarmed.

Limited Number of Data Centers to Deliver our CloudServices

We host our cloud-based software using several-tarty data center facilities. We do not contt@ operation of these
facilities. The owners of our data center faciitikave no obligation to renew their agreements witton commercially
reasonable terms, or at all. If we are unable tewethese agreements on commercially reasonabitstere may be
required to transfer to other data center facditiand we may incur significant costs and possikleice interruption in
connection with a transfer of this type.

Any changes in third-party service levels at ouadsanters or any errors, defects, disruptiongloergerformance problems
with our services could harm our reputation and mhayage our customers’ businesses. Interruptioosiirservices might
reduce our revenue, cause us to issue creditsstoroers, subject us to potential liability, caugstomers to terminate their
subscriptions or harm our renewal rates.

Our data centers are vulnerable to damage or ugtgon from human error, intentional bad acts, genids, earthquakes,
hurricanes, floods, fires, war, terrorist attagb@wer losses, hardware failures, systems failuedscommunications failures
and similar events. The occurrence of a naturalsties or an act of terrorism, or vandalism or othiesconduct, a decision to
close the facilities without adequate notice oreothinanticipated problems could result in lengthteriruptions in our
services.

Our Success Depends on Our Customers’ Continued HigSpeed Access to the Internet

Because our cloud services are designed to wornkthednternet, our revenue growth depends on ositomers’ high-speed
access to the Internet, as well as the continuethtemance and development of the Internet infrattre. The future
delivery of our cloud services will depend on thirarty Internet service providers to expand higeesplnternet access, to
maintain a reliable network with the necessary dpdata capacity and security, and to develop cemehtary products and
services, including high-speed modems, for progdieliable and timely Internet access and servités. success of our
business directly depends on the continued acditysitmaintenance and improvement of the Interm®ga convenient means
of customer interaction, as well as an efficientlam for the delivery and distribution of informauti by businesses to their
employees. All of these factors are out of our muint

To the extent that the Internet continues to ewmee increased numbers of users, frequency of useawdwidth
requirements, the Internet may become congestedanthable to support the demands placed on itjtamarformance or
reliability may decline. Any future Internet outager delays could adversely affect our ability toyide cloud services to
our customers.
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Possible Infringement of Third Party Intellectual Property Rights

Substantial litigation and threats of litigationgaeding intellectual property rights are commontliis industry. The
Company is not aware that its products and teclyedoemploy technology that infringes any validisérg proprietary
rights of third parties. While there currently are pending lawsuits against the Company regaritifrijmgement of any
existing patents or other intellectual propertyhtgyor any notices that it is infringing the inéeflual property rights of
others, third parties may assert such claims irfithge. Any claims, with or without merit, could:

. be time consuming to defend;

. result in costly litigation or damage awards;

. divert management’s attention and resources;

. cause product shipment delays; or

. require the Company to seek to enter into royaityiaensing agreements, which may not be availalve
terms acceptable to the Company, if at all.

A successful claim of intellectual property infreTgent against the Company or the Company’s faduieability to license

the infringed or similar technology could seriousigrm its business because the Company would natbleeto sell the

impacted product without exposing itself to litigat risk and damages. Furthermore, redevelopmietiteoproduct so as to
avoid infringement could cause the Company to istgmificant additional expense and delay.

Dependence on Technology from Third Parties

The Company integrates various third-party softwapalucts as components of its software. The Cogipdnusiness would
be disrupted if this software, or functional equéves of this software, were either no longer ald#é to the Company or the
Company was no longer able to gain access to dfiiware on commercially reasonable terms. In eittzese, the Company
would be required to either redesign its softwaréunction with alternate third-party software @velop these components
itself, which would result in increased costs andld result in delays in software shipments. Furtitere, the Company
might be forced to limit the features availabléténcurrent or future software offerings.

Security Breaches and Other Disruptions Could Compomise our Information and Expose us to Liability, Which
Would Cause our Business and Reputation to Suffer.

In the ordinary course of the Company’s busingsspliects and stores sensitive data, includinglie¢tual property and
proprietary business information of the Company #rel Company’s customers, suppliers and businassepa as well as
personally identifiable information of the Compasmyustomers and employees. The secure processaigtemance and
transmission of this information is critical to tf@ompany’s operations and business strategy. @Bespé Company’s

security measures, its information technology arfchstructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hacke breached due to
employee error, malfeasance or other disruptiomsy such breach could compromise the Company’s n&svand the

information stored there could be accessed, pybtidclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, dssek or other loss of
information could result in legal claims or procewgs, liability under laws that protect the privaafypersonal information,

and regulatory penalties, disrupt the Company'samns and the services the Company provides $tomers, damage the
Company’s reputation, and cause a loss of confelémthe Company’s products and services, whiclidcadversely affect

the Company’s business/operating margins, revean@gompetitive position.

Need to Expand Indirect Sales

The Company has historically sold its products tlgfoits direct sales force and a limited numbedisfributors (value-
added resellers, system integrators and salessigefihe Company’s ability to achieve significaavenue growth in the
future will depend in large part on its successestablishing relationships with distributors and NDBpartners. The
Company is currently investing, and plans to cargito invest, significant resources to expandadtsestic and international
direct sales force and develop distribution relatops. The Company’s distributors also sell or patentially sell products
offered by the Company’s competitors. There cambeassurance that the Company will be able tarreta attract a
sufficient number of its existing or future thirdnty distribution partners or that such partne$ ecommend, or continue
to recommend, the Company’s products. The inghtititestablish or maintain successful relationskifih distributors and
OEM partners or to train its direct sales forceld@mause its sales to decline.
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Future Acquisitions

As part of Astea’s growth strategy, it may pursie tacquisition of businesses, technologies or pmtsdthat are

complementary to its business. Acquisitions invotwv@umber of special risks that could harm the Camg{s business,

including the diversion of management’s attentibie, integration of the operations and personnéh@facquired companies,
and the potential loss of key employees. In pddigihe failure to maintain adequate operating famehcial control systems
or unexpected difficulties encountered during exgiam could harm the Company’s business. Acquisitimay result in

potentially dilutive issuances of equity securitiaad the incurrence of debt and contingent liab#j any of which could

materially adversely affect the Company’s busirass results of operations.

Under the covenants with Silicon Valley Bank (“S\JB’egarding our line of credit, the Company musstfget SVB’s
approval before entering into any acquisition teati®ns.

Expansion of International Sales

Astea’s international sales accounted for 35% ef@ompany’s revenues in 2015 and 38% in 2014. Adrapany expects
that international sales will continue to be a gigant component of its business. In the Comparefforts to expand its
international presence, it will face certain risk&ich it may not be successful in addressing. s€hésks include:

» difficulties in establishing and managing interpatl distribution channels and in translating pridunto
foreign languages;

» difficulties finding staff to manage foreign opeaais and collect accounts receivable;

» difficulties enforcing intellectual property rights

» liabilities and financial exposure under foreigws$aand regulatory requirements;

« potential political, economic or military instalbyliin the countries in which the Company operates;

« fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies andrency exchange rates; and

» potentially adverse tax consequences.

Additionally, the current economic difficulties geveral European and Asian countries could hawedaarse impact on the
Company’s international operations in future pesiodiny of these factors, if not successfully addesl, could harm the
Company’s operating results.

Subjection to Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Laws

We are required to comply with anti-bribery andi-&otruption laws in the jurisdictions in which vegerate, including the
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”)heTFCPA generally prohibits covered entities arartintermediaries
from engaging in bribery or making other prohibifgayments to foreign officials for the purpose btaning or keeping
business or other benefits. In addition, the FQRposes accounting standards and requirements\@ramb entities which
are intended to prevent the diversion of corpofatels to the payment of bribes and other impropgmeents, and to
prevent the establishment of “off-books” slush feifdom which such improper payments can be madé&hoédgh we
believe that we have acted in compliance with aaplie anti-corruption laws, there is no assurahag dur practices have
prevented or will work to prevent anti-corruptioiobations or that they will protect us against llak under anti-corruption
laws for actions taken by our integrators, distitis, agents and other intermediaries with resfrectur business or any
businesses that we may acquire.

Compliance with the FCPA and other applicable aatruption laws is expensive and difficult, partarly in countries in
which corruption is a recognized problem. If weaar intermediaries acting on our behalf are fotmchave failed to
comply with the FCPA or other applicable anti-cqtfan laws, we may be subject to criminal and cipénalties,
disgorgement and other remedial measures, any ichvdould have an adverse impact on our businesslts of operations
and financial condition. Any investigation of apgtential violations of anti-corruption laws alsoutd have an adverse
impact on our business, results of operations erah€ial condition, such as through legal expeasekreputational effects.

Research and Development in Israel; Potential Polital, Economic or Military Instability

Astea’s principal research and development faedlitare located in Israel. Accordingly, politicatoaomic and military
conditions in Israel may directly affect its busiseContinued political and economic instabilityanmed conflicts in Israel
or in the region could directly harm the Comparhisiness and operations.

Since the establishment of the State of Israel98] a number of armed conflicts have taken platesden Israel and its
Arab neighbors, and a state of hostility has edigtevarying degrees and intensity. This stateadtility has led to security
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and economic problems for Israel. The future ofcpeefforts between Israel and its Arab neighbaoastiqularly in light of
the recent violence and political unrest in the diédEast, remains uncertain and several counttilésestrict business with
Israel and Israeli companies. These restrictiveslamnd policies may also materially harm the Comfsaagerating results
and financial condition. Any hostilities involvinigrael or the interruption or curtailment of trabetween Israel and its
trading partners could adversely affect our openstiand results of operations. As an exampleaity 2011, riots and
uprisings in several countries in the Middle Eaavehled to severe political instability and to aldes in the regional
security situation. Such instability may affecetblobal economy and marketplace and could adweedétct business
conditions and therefore affect the Company’s apmra. The political and security situation indsk may also result in
parties with whom we have agreements involvinggrenfince in Israel claiming that they are not oltédao perform their
commitments under those agreements pursuant te foageure provisions in such agreements.

Dependence on Key Personnel Who Are Required to Ferm Military Service

Many of the Company’s employees in Israel are aitdid to perform annual military reserve duty in idmaeli army and are
subject to being called to active duty at any timbich could adversely affect the Company’s abiliypursue its planned
research and development efforts. The Company taass®ss the full impact of these requirementstomvorkforce or

business and the Company cannot predict the effeety expansion or reduction of these obligatidtswever, in light of

the recent violence and political unrest in Isré®tre is an increased risk that a number of thegamy’s employees could
be called to active military duty without prior ie#. The Company’s operations could be disruptedhieyabsence for a
significant period of time of one or more of ourykemployees or a significant number of other empésydue to military
service. Any such disruption in the Company’s besicould harm its operations.

Inflation and Currency Fluctuations

The Company generates most of its revenues inddl&rs but all of its costs associated with thesiign operations located
in Europe, the Pacific Rim, Japan, and Israel areothinated in the respective local currency amsteded into U.S. dollars
for consolidation and reporting. As a result, @@mmpany is exposed to risks to the extent thatdteeof inflation in Europe,
the Pacific Rim, Japan, or Israel exceeds theafatievaluation of their related foreign currencyré@hation to the U.S. dollar
or if the timing of such devaluations lags behinfation in Europe, the Pacific Rim, Japan, or é&rén that event, the cost
of the Company’s operations in Europe, the Paétfio, Japan, and Israel measured in terms of U lardawill increase and
the U.S. dollar-measured results of operationsswiffer. Historically, Israel has experienced pasiof high inflation.

Dependence on Key Personnel; Competition for Empl@es

The continued growth and success largely dependshermanagerial and technical skills of key techhisales and
management personnel. In particular, the Comparyisiness and operations are substantially depénoenthe
performance of Zack Bergreen, the founder and ahietutive officer. If Mr. Bergreen were to leavebecome unable to
perform services for the Company, the business dvdikkly be harmed. The Company’s success alsemg to a
substantial degree, upon its continuing abilityatoract, motivate and retain other talented andhlzigualified personnel.
Competition for key personnel is intense, partidylao in recent years. From time to time the Camphas experienced
difficulty in recruiting and retaining talented andalified employees. There can be no assuraratethie Company can
retain its key technical, sales and managerial eyags or that it can attract, assimilate or retdhrer highly qualified
technical, sales and managerial personnel in theeu If the Company fails to attract or retairoegh skilled personnel, its
product development efforts may be delayed, thditgua its customer service may decline and satey decline.

Concentration of Ownership

Currently, Zack Bergreen, the Company’s chief exgewfficer, beneficially owns approximately 54.586the outstanding
Common Stock of the Company, which includes 826 §i¥yes of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock7@%000 shares
of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. As alteddr. Bergreen exercises significant control ottee Company through
his ability to influence and control the electiof directors and all other matters that require cactby the Company’s
stockholders. Under certain circumstances, MrgBsm could prevent or delay a change of contrehefCompany which
may be favored by a significant portion of the Camgs other stockholders, or cause a change of@ambt favored by the
majority of the Company’s other stockholders. MBergreen’s ability under certain circumstancesntftuence, cause or
delay a change in control of the Company also naeltan adverse effect on the market price of thegamy’s Common
Stock.
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Possible Volatility of Stock Price

The market price of the Common Stock has in thé paen, and may continue to be, subject to sigmifidluctuations in

response to, and may be adversely affected byati@ms in quarterly operating results, changesaimiags estimates by
analysts, developments in the software industrg, atverse earnings or other financial announcenwntise Company’s

customers as well as other factors. In additibe,stock market can experience extreme price ahaneofluctuations from

time to time, which may bear no meaningful relasioip to the Company’s performance. Broad markggtélations, as well
as economic conditions generally and in the softwadustry specifically, may result in material atse effects on the
market price of the Company’s Common Stock.

Under Our Loan Agreement with SVB, if We Fail to Meet Certain Earnings Covenants, SVB May Increase Qu
Interest Rate, Lower Our Borrowing Base or Refused Grant Us Any Additional Borrowings in the Future.

The Company entered into a Loan and Security Agez¢nas amended (the “Loan Agreement”) with SVBie TLoan
Agreement established a revolving credit facilitye(“Revolving Facility”) for the Company in theipcipal amount of up to
$2,000,000.

Subject to certain exceptions, the Loan Agreementains covenants prohibiting the Company from, agnother things:
(a) conveying, selling, leasing, transferring dnestvise disposing of their properties or assetslignidating or dissolving;
(c) engaging in any business other than the busioesently engaged in or reasonably related the(d) entering into any
merger or consolidation, or acquiring all or subtitdly all of the capital stock or property of dher entity; (e) becoming
liable for any indebtedness; (f) allowing any lienencumbrance on any of their property; and (glingrany dividends
(other than dividends on outstanding convertiblfgnred stock); and (i) making payment on subotdith@ebt. Further, the
Company must maintain a minimum “adjusted quicloratested as of the last day of each month, ¢éast 1.25:1.00. The
adjusted quick ratio is the ratio of (a) the Comparmronsolidated, unrestricted cash plus net boaembunts receivable to
(b) the Company’s’ liabilities to SVB plus, withoduplication, the aggregate amount of the Companigbilities that
mature within 1 year, minus the current portiomeferred revenue.

The Revolving Facility is secured by a first prigrperfected security interest in substantially @flthe assets of the
Company, excluding the intellectual property of t@@mpany. The Loan Agreement contains a negatweerant
prohibiting the Company from granting a securitierast in its intellectual property to any party.

However, there is no assurance that in the futue $VB will agree to grant a waiver or enter iattorbearance agreement
with the Company if it fails to be in compliancethvits covenants. Continued compliance with itser@ants is dependent on
the Company achieving certain operating result®0h6 and throughout the remaining term of the lagreement. Market
conditions have been difficult to predict and thisreo assurance that in future periods the Compalhyneet the operating
income targets in order to meet certain operatongnants as currently defined in the amended Igegeanent.

Limitations of the Company Charter Documents

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation and Baws contain provisions that could discourage aypmntest or make
more difficult the acquisition of a substantial dtoof the Company’s Common Stock, including pramis that allow the
Board of Directors to take into account a numbenarfi-economic factors, such as the social, legdlaher effects upon
employees, suppliers, customers and creditors, whialuating offers for the Company’s acquisitioncl$ provisions could
limit the price that investors might be willing pay in the future for the Company’s shares of Comi@tock. The Board of
Directors is authorized to issue, without stockkol@gpproval, up to 5,000,000 shares of preferredkstvith voting,
conversion and other rights and preferences thgtbaasuperior to the Company’s Common Stock antdbald adversely
affect the voting power or other rights of our hextslof Common Stock. There are currently 826,00@eSé and 797,000
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shares mudstg. The issuance of preferred stock or of rightpurchase preferred
stock could be used to discourage an unsolicitgdisition proposal.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None
Item 2. Properties.

The Company’s headquarters are located in a |efasdily of approximately 24,000 square feet in blwam, Pennsylvania
which runs through April 2017. The Company alscsé=afacilities for operational activities in Irvin€alifornia; Arnhem,
Netherlands; and Karmiel, Israel, and for sales @mtomer support activities in Maidenhead, Engldrakyo, Japan; and
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North Sydney, Australia. The Company believes thatable additional or alternative office spacdl b available in the
future on commercially reasonable terms as needed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
None
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchasesf
Equity Securities.

The Company’s Common Stock was traded on Capitak&af The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC (“NASDAQ")under the
symbol “ATEA” until February 18, 2015 when the Coamy delisted the common stock from NASDAQ and tiemed the
trading market for its common stock to the OTCQRkatplace of the OTC Markets Group, Inc. (“OTCQBIe trading on
the OTCQB began on February 19, 2015 under the syfTEA.” The following table sets forth the higénd low sale
prices for the Common Stock as reported by OTCQfisaal year 2015 and NASDAQ for the fiscal yead 20

2015 High Low
First quarter $2.25 $1.04
Second quarter 2.00 1.19
Third quarter 2.61 1.50
Fourth quarter 3.00 1.80
2014 High Low
First quarter $3.91 $2.55
Second quarter 3.35 1.23
Third quarter 2.75 1.87
Fourth quarter 2.95 1.11

As of March 25, 2016, there were approximately 8®lérs of record of the Company’s Common Stock. March 25,
2016, the last reported sale price of the Commouksas reported by OTCQB was $1.85 per share. Tmep@ny currently
has outstanding 826,000 Series A Convertible PiedeStock shares and 797,000 Series B ConvertitdéefPed Stock
shares.

Dividend Policy

The Board of Directors from time to time reviews tiompany’s forecasted operations and financiatlitiom to determine
whether and when payment of a dividend or dividemdE£ommon stock is appropriate. No common stoeiddnds have
been declared since June 2000. The Company hasterdion at this time to pay dividends on its coomrstock. In

September 2008, the Company issued 826,000 shfiBexies A Convertible Preferred Stock. Dividemadsrue daily at a
rate of 10% and are payable quarterly only wheg #re declared by the Board of Directors. The fiigidend was paid at
the end of 2008. In June 2014, the Company is§@G000 shares of Series B Convertible PreferredkStDividends

accrue daily at a rate of 7%, until June 20, 2016 w&hich time the rate increase to 10%. The firsidend payment was
paid at the end of December 2014. The Company roagsi to either accrue or disburse quarterly paysnamtthe preferred
dividends.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity @ensation Plans

Number of Securities ~ Weighted Average

Number of Securities Remaining

to be Issued upon Exercise Price of Available for Future Issuance
Exercise of Outstanding Under Equity Compensation
Plan Category Outstanding Options, Options,.Warrants Plans (exclluding securities
Warrants & Rights & Rights reflected in column (a))
(@ (b) (©)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 738,000 $3.06 240,000
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders - - -
Total 738,000 $3.06 240,000
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data.

Years ended December 31, 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statement of Income Data
Revenues:
Software license $ 5000 $ 3357 $ 2809 $ 4,796 $ 6,704
Subscriptions 1,082 790 153 - -
Services and maintenance 16,875 16,587 87,37 21,594 19,883
Total revenues 22,957 20,734 20,337 26,390 26,587
Costs of revenues:
Cost of software license fees 3,805 3,623 844, 1,526 1,830
Cost of subscriptions, services and mainteaa 13,307 11,588 12,456 14,048 12,987
Total cost of revenues 17,112 15,211 4,302 15,574 14,817
Gross profit 5,845 5,523 6,035 10,816 11,770
Operating expenses:
Product development 1,382 1,350 1,349 2,075 2,724
Sales and marketing 4,167 3,980 3,915 4,982 4,558
General and administrative 3,276 3,455 3,391 4,095 3,572
Restructuring - - 226 - -
Goodwill impairment 1,538 - - - -
Total operating expenses 10,363 8,785 8,881 11,152 10,854
(Loss) income before interest and taxes (4,518) (3,262) (2,849 (336 916
Netinterest (expense) income (159) (129) (67) 14 27
(Loss) income before income taxes (4,677) (3,386 (2,913) (322 943
Income tax (benefit) expense (311) 61 83 (84) 270
Net (loss) income (4,366) (3,447 (2,996 (23¢) 673
Preferred dividend 500 400 300 300 300
Net (loss) income allocable/available to common stotitérs $ (4,866) $ (3,847) $ (3,299 $ (639 $ 373
Basic and diluted net (loss) income per share $618 (10HNS$ (099$ (01Hs 0.10
Shares used in computing basic (loss) income hsres 3,587 3,587 3,594 3,574 3,562
Shares used in computing diluted (loss) incomeshpare 3,587 3,587 3,594 3,574 3,720
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data at December 31,
Working (deficit) capital $ (5,632)%$ (6,13¢) $ (3,790)$ (1619 % (157)
Total assets 11,421 12,665 13,900 14,705 16,728
Long-term debt, less current portion 1,374 1,004 0@,0 - -
Accumulated deficit (35,847) (31,481) (28,034) (25,039 (24,800)
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity (4,537) 221 1,829 5,149 5,460
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations.
Overview

The Company develops, markets and supports semdecegement software solutions, which are licensambinpanies that
sell and service equipment, or sell and deliverfgasional services. The Company’s principal procafférings, Astea
Alliance and FieldCentrix Enterprise suites, intggrand automate sales and service business precEss are designed to
assist its users to increase competitive advasatdgp-line revenue growth and profitability thréulgetter management of
information, people, assets and cash flows. Weebelithat Astea Alliance offers substantially braaded far superior
capabilities over the Company’s predecessor prodU&PATCH-1, which was designed for only field\see and customer
support management applications.

The Company’s products and services are primaggdun industries such as information technologgdical devices and
diagnostic systems, industrial controls and insentation, retail systems, office automation, imggsystems, facilities
management and telecommunications. An eclectic pgrofi other industries, all with equipment sales awtvice

requirements, are also represented in Astea’s mgstdase. The Company maintains offices in theddntates, United
Kingdom, Australia, Israel, Japan and the Netheldan

The Company generates revenues from three soustdtvare license fees for its software produatbssriptions services
from its cloud services, and services and maintemaevenues from professional services, which geduconsulting,
implementation, training and maintenance relatettidse products.

Software license fees accounted for 22% of the Gyl total revenues in 2015. Software licenseréenues include

some fees from the sublicensing of third-partywafe and mapping software licenses. Typicallytaugrs pay a license
fee for the software based on the number of licgnsers. Depending on the contract terms and tonslj software license

fees are recognized as revenue upon delivery gbtbeuct if no significant vendor obligations remaind collection of the

resulting receivable is deemed probable. If sigaift vendor obligations exist at the time of defiv or if the product is

subject to uncertain customer acceptance, revendeferred until no significant obligations remaimd/or acceptance has
occurred.

We provide Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) solutiaisch generate revenue from cloud subscriptionises. Our SaaS
customers typically purchase three year licensesaigiions, but occasionally will purchase annuegrise subscriptions.
We do not recognize any revenue from SaaS saldsthmicustomer goes live. The revenue recognirenh fSaaS projects
were attributable to projects that went live in 30dnd 2014 as well as existing customers renewieq subscriptions
allowing us to recognize revenue of $1,082,000%@D,000 in the years ended December 31, 2015 @], Pespectively.
It generally takes several months for the custotmeyo live. Once the customer goes live we recagttie revenue ratably
over the contract life.

The remaining component of the Company’s revenuessists principally of fees derived from professibiservices

associated with the implementation and deployméthe Company’s software products, and maintend@es for ongoing

customer support, primarily external customer t@min support services and unspecified product upegaand

enhancements. Professional services (includinigitig) are generally charged on an hourly or dbdgis and invoiced on a
regular basis pursuant to customer work ordersainifrg services may also be charged on a per-aéhasis with a
minimum daily charge. Out-of-pocket expenses iredirby Company personnel performing professionalices are

typically reimbursed by the customer. The Compasgognizes revenue from professional services asséhnvices are
performed unless the services are under a fixezbpairangement. Consulting, training and othevises that are sold
under fixed-price arrangements are recognized usiegproportional performance method based on diadmor hours

incurred to date as a percentage of total estimditedt labor hours required to complete the proj€onsulting services
primarily comprise implementation support relatedhe installation and configuration of the Compamyoducts and do not
typically require significant production, modifioat or customization of the software. In arrangetmethat require

significant production, modification or customizatiof the software and where services are not aailfrom third-party

suppliers, the consulting and license fees aregrazed concurrently. When total cost estimates exaevenue in a fixed-
price arrangement, the estimated losses are remmhimhmediately in cost of revenue.

Maintenance fees are typically paid to the Compamger written agreements entered into at the tifrtbeninitial software

license sale. Maintenance revenue, which is gépeiravoiced annually, is recognized ratably ovéretterm of the
agreement.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Company’s significant accounting policies arerenfully described in its “Summary of Significadtccounting
Policies,” Note 2, to the Company’s consolidatethficial statements. The preparation of finandakments in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted witthie United States of America requires managententake estimates
and assumptions in certain circumstances thattadi®ounts reported in the accompanying financetiestents and related
notes. In preparing these financial statementsiag@ment has made its best estimates and judgmieogstain amounts
included in the financial statements, giving duaesideration to materiality. The Company does radielve there is a great
likelihood that materially different amounts woldé reported related to the accounting policies ritest below; however,
application of these accounting policies involvée texercise of judgments and the use of assump@sng future
uncertainties and, as a result, actual resultgdatitfier from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Astea’s revenue is principally recognized from éhesurces: (i) licensing arrangements, (ii) supsom services and (iii)
services and maintenance.

The Company markets its products primarily throitghdirect sales force and resellers. Licenseegents do not provide
for a right of return, and historically, productums have not been significant.

The Company recognizes revenue from license satheswall of the following criteria are met: perswasevidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, thediedee is fixed and determinable and the collaabicthe fee is probable.
We utilize written contracts as a means to estabifsee terms and conditions by which our producesyvises and
maintenance support are sold to our customersivédglis considered to have occurred when title @sidof loss have been
transferred to the customer, which generally ocaitsr a license key has been delivered electriyita the customer.
Revenue for arrangements with extended paymenstarmxcess of one year is recognized when the paismbecome due,
provided all other recognition criteria are saédfi If collectability is not considered probahieyenue is recognized when
the fee is collected. Our typical end user liceageeements do not contain acceptance clauses.ewowf acceptance
criteria are required, revenues are deferred anstomer acceptance has occurred.

If these criteria are not met, then revenue isrdefeuntil such criteria are met or until the pd(g) over which the last
undelivered element is delivered. If there is ofiyecand reliable evidence of fair value for allitsnof accounting in an
arrangement, the arrangement consideration isaa#dcto the separate units of accounting basedcim @nit's relative fair
value. There may be cases, however, in which tisesbjective and reliable evidence of fair valudted undelivered item(s)
but no such evidence for the delivered item(s)tHose cases, the residual method is used to aldbat arrangement
consideration. Under the residual method, the amotirtonsideration allocated to the delivered iten¥quals the total
arrangement consideration less the aggregatedhie\of the undelivered item(s). We apply the rexerecognition policies
discussed below to each separate unit of accounting

Astea allocates revenue to each element in a restiiement arrangement based on the elements’ aibapdair value,
determined by the price charged when the elemestli separately. Specifically, Astea determirres fair value of the
maintenance portion of the arrangement based opribe, at the date of sale, if sold separatelyictviis generally a fixed
percentage of the software license selling pritlke professional services portion of the arrangérisdmased on hourly rates
which the Company charges for those services wiodth Separately from software. If evidence of faalue of all
undelivered elements exists, but evidence doesxist for one or more delivered elements, thenmegas recognized using
the residual method. If an undelivered elementafbich evidence of fair value does not exist, allenue in an arrangement
is deferred until the undelivered element is dedeor fair value can be determined. Under th&duas method, the fair
value of the undelivered elements is deferred bademaining portion of the arrangement fee isgaized as revenue. The
proportion of the revenue recognized upon deliveag vary from quarter-to-quarter depending uponddiermination of
vendor-specific objective evidence (“WSOE") of faialue of undelivered elements. The residual vaddier allocation of
the fee to the undelivered elements based on VSQ&rovalue, is then allocated to the perpetudtveare license for the
software products being sold.

When appropriate, the Company may allocate a podfdts software revenue to post-contract suppotitvities or to other
services or products provided to the customer dfezharge or at non-standard rates when providaimunction with the
licensing arrangement. Amounts allocated are baped standard prices charged for those servicgsamtucts which, in
the Company’s opinion, approximate fair value. t®afe license fees for resellers or other membétheindirect sales
channel are based on a fixed percentage of the &uayigp standard prices. The Company recognizesvaodt license
revenue for such contracts based upon the termscanditions provided by the reseller to its custoniéhe Company
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regularly communicates with its resellers and redoes revenue based on information from its reeliegarding possible
returns and collectability. However, the Compangsinot have a history of returns from the resellers

In subscription based arrangements, even thougtoroess use the software element, they generallynalo have a

contractual right to take possession of the softvedrany time during the hosting period withouhgigant penalty to either

run the software on its own hardware or contrath &n unrelated third party to host the softwarecdkdingly, these SaaS
arrangements, including the software license fed@hiwthe arrangements, are accounted for as siphiscr services

provided all other revenue recognition criteria édeen met. The revenue is recognized on a stiiighbasis over the

lifetime of the contract. The term of a SaaS attris generally 1 to 3 years. In accordance wihegally accepted
accounting principles, the Company may not recagiigzy SaaS revenue before the customer goesdivensure that the
revenue will match the use of services. The implaatén period can be anywhere between 3 and 12hwowhen upfront

implementation, consulting and training services hundled with the subscription based arrangentbet,services are
recognized over the life of the initial contracther than the estimated life of the customer asCbmpany does not have
sufficient history of renewals for its SaaS custmne

The post-contract support on perpetual licensesiges for technical support and unspecified updé&ethe Company's
software products. Post-contract support is chasggérately for renewals of annual maintenancellisequent years. Fair
value for maintenance is based upon either reneates stated in the contracts or separate salemefvals to customers.
Revenue is recognized ratably, or monthly, overténa of the maintenance period, which is typicalhe year.

Consulting and training service revenue are gelgeraibundled and, therefore, recognized at the tihee services are
performed except when these services are bundl¢d suibscription revenues. If the Company has awgdfprice
arrangements for services, the revenue is recagjnigimg the proportional performance method basedi@ct labor hours
incurred to date as a percentage of total estingitedt labor hours required to complete the ptojdeees from licenses sold
together with consulting services are generallpgeized upon shipment, provided that the contrastideen executed, delivery
of the software has occurred, fees are fixed anérimdnable and collection is probable. The Compafigrs a variety of
consulting services that include project manageiemlementation, data conversion, integration,t@esreport writing
and training. Our professional services are gelyebdlled on a time and materials basis using hpuates together with
reimbursement for travel and accommodation expeMdesrecognize revenue as these professional ssraie performed.
On rare occasions these consulting service arramgisninvolve acceptance criteria. In such casegnie is recognized
upon acceptance.

We believe that our accounting estimates usedpiyaqm our revenue recognition are critical because

» the determination that it is probable that the @unsr will pay for the products and services pureldas
inherently judgmental;

» the allocation of proceeds to certain elementstittiple-element arrangements is complex;

» the determination of whether a service is essettidie functionality of the software is complex;

» establishing company-specific fair values of eletedn multiple-element arrangements requires anjests
from time-to-time to reflect recent prices chargdten each element is sold separately; and

» the determination of the stage of completion fataia consulting arrangements is complex.

Changes in the aforementioned items could havetariabeffect on the type and timing of revenueogrtzed.

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 201€dhgany recognized $22,957,000 and $20,734,08p¢eotively, of
revenue related to software license fees, subsmmiptvenue, and services and maintenance.

We present taxes assessed by a governmental aytimctuding sales, use, value added and excisestar a net basis and
therefore the presentation of these taxes is emdlulom our revenues and is included in accruedersgs in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets until aonciunts are remitted to the taxing authority.

Cost of Software License Fees

Cost of software license fees includes amortizatibthe capitalized software development coststhrdcost of third party
licenses sold to customers.
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Cost of Subscriptions, Services and Maintenance

Cost of subscription, services and maintenancaudted compensation and benefits provided to ourepsidnal service
employees, independent consultants, telecommuoitatiost, third party hosting costs, outside momtpr costs,
unreimbursed travel expenses and allocated facuisgs.

Product Development

Product development costs include our researchdamdlopment expenses which consist primarily of@enel, contractors,
and related costs, including salaries and empldgeefits for software engineers. To date, our prbdevelopment efforts
have been devoted to new products and servicdrgffeand increases in features and functionalityunfexisting products and
services.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing costs include compensation,missions and benefits paid to our sales and maigketeams,
telecommunication costs, travel costs, marketirdysaies costs, professional fees and facility costs

General and Administrative Costs

General and administrative costs include salabesgfits and related costs for the Company’s firamciministrative and
executive management personnel, external accouatidgaudit costs, bad-debt expense, professioes) éerporate facility
costs, Board of Director expenses and other castscéated with being a public company.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basisr the estimated useful lives of the assets¢lwrange from three to ten
years for computers and related equipment, fumiturd fixtures, software and office equipment, tredlesser of the lease
term or estimated useful life for leasehold impmeats. Intangible assets are amortized using th@ht-line method over
their estimated useful lives, which range from fieden years.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed to oriveckfrom customers for which revenue has not beeognized. This

generally results from post-contract support, safeninstallation, subscription fees for hostingsting consulting fees not
yet recognized and training or license revenue whigs been deferred until all revenue recognitéguirements have been
met or services performed.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Aot®

The Company evaluates the adequacy of its allowéorcdoubtful accounts at the end of each quartarperforming this
evaluation, the Company analyzes the payment kisibits customer accounts that are significanthgtpdue, subsequent
cash collections on these accounts and comparativeunts receivable aging statistics. Based anitfibrmation, along
with consideration of the general strength of tkenemy, the Company develops what it considerseta lreasonable
estimate of the uncollectible amounts included dnoaints receivable. This estimate involves sigaiit judgment by the
management of the Company. Actual uncollectibleams may differ from the Company’s estimate.

Unbilled accounts receivables are established wheenue is deemed to be recognized based on the@aPgia revenue
recognition policy, but due to contractual restimiover the timing of invoicing, the Company doesmave the right to invoice
the customer by the balance sheet date.

We believe that our estimate of our allowance foultful accounts is critical because of the sigaifice of our accounts
receivable balance relative to total assets. Iigdmeral economy deteriorated, or factors affedtivegprofitability or liquidity
of the industry changed significantly, then thisiicbaffect the accuracy of our allowance for doubdfccounts.

Capitalized Software and Research and DevelopmesiisC

The Company capitalizes software development costarred during the period subsequent to the dastabent of
technological feasibility through the product’'s dahility for general release. Costs incurred priorthe establishment of
technological feasibility are charged to productalepment expense as they are incurred. Produalal@went expense
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includes payroll, employee benefits, other headtoeiated costs associated with product developmedtany related costs
to third parties under sub-contracting or net of eollaborative arrangements.

Capitalized software development costs are amartimea product-by-product basis over the greatéhefratio of current
revenues to total anticipated revenues or on aghktrine basis over the estimated useful liveshaf products beginning
with the initial release to customers. The Compaegtimated life for its capitalized software puots is two years based
on current sales trends and the rate of produeaisel The Company continually evaluates whethamtevor circumstances
have occurred that indicate that the remaininguldéé of the capitalized software developmenttsashould be revised or
that the remaining balance of such assets may amoédpverable. The Company evaluates the recovigyatdi capitalized
software based on the net realizable value of @aotluct, which includes the estimated future gnes&nues from that
product reduced by the estimated future costs ofpteting and disposing of that product, includihg tosts of performing
maintenance and customer support required to patief Company’s responsibility set forth at the dimof sale. As of
December 31, 2015, management believes that nsigasi to the remaining useful lives or write-dowofscapitalized
software development costs are required.

We believe that our estimate of our capitalizedveafe costs and the period for their amortizat®uritical because of the
significance of our balance of capitalized softweosts relative to our total assets. Potential impent is determined by
comparing the balance of unamortized capitalizétiveoe costs to the net realizable value for atediped software product.
If efforts to sell that software product are teratgd, or if the net realizable value from that wafe product drops below
the unamortized balance, then an impairment woeltebognized.

Goodwill

Part of the purchase price for the FieldCentrixetsssacquired September 21, 2005, included theisitiqn of goodwill.
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase mver the fair value of net assets acquired imeotion with business
combinations accounted for using the purchase rdettfficaccounting. Goodwill is not amortized, buttéed goodwill is
required to be tested annually for impairment armtarfrequently under certain circumstances. The @@y performs
testing of goodwill on October 1 of each year, sreents occur or circumstances change that woalé tikely than not
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit belowcisrying amount.

The Company conducts a two-step test for impairnangoodwill. The first step of the test for goodlwmpairment
compares the fair value of the applicable reportinig with its carrying value. If the fair value afreporting unit is less than
the reporting unit's carrying value, the Company pérform the second step of the test for impamtre& goodwill. During
the second step of the test for impairment of galbdihe Company will compare the implied fair valwf the reporting
unit's goodwill with the carrying value of that giwill. If the carrying value of the goodwill excesthe calculated implied
fair value, the excess amount will be recognizeédrmsmpairment loss. Based upon the results ofirtipairment testing,
conducted after October 1, 2015, the Company détedrthat an impairment existed at December 315201 recognized
a charge of $1,538,000.

Acquired Intangible Asset

Acquired intangible asset with a finite life (exdlng goodwill) is amortized on a straight-line [zsier its estimated useful
life and reviewed for impairment if an event orccimstance occurs indicating that the asset maynpaired. The
impairment test will consist of comparing the uwrdisnted cash flows expected to be generated bgdteired intangible
asset to its carrying amount. If the asset isidened to be impaired, an impairment loss will beagnized in an amount by
which the carrying amount of the asset exceedfiitsralue. No impairment of acquired intangibleetshas been identified
during any of the periods presented. As of DecerBheR015, our only acquired intangible asset wig d&mortized.

Stock-Based Compensation — Option Plans

The Company estimates the fair value of stock egtigranted using the Black-Scholes-Merton (“Blackd@es”) option-
pricing formula and amortizes the estimated optialue using an accelerated amortization method eveach option grant
is split into tranches based on vesting periodfie Tompany's expected term represents the peritdttie Company’s
share-based awards are expected to be outstandihgvas determined based on historical experiengardang similar
awards, giving consideration to the contractuahteof the share-based awards and employee terorinddita. Executive
level employees who hold a majority of options targling, and non-executive level employees eack kamilar historical
option exercise and termination behavior and thesevgrouped for valuation purposes. The Compagwected volatility
is based on the historical volatility of its tradedmmon stock and places exclusive reliance orofiéstl volatilities to
estimate our stock volatility over the expectedntenf its awards. The Company has historically paid dividends to
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common stockholders and has no foreseeable plassue dividends. The risk-free interest rateasdn on the yield from
the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with an egemntaerm.

Under the Company’s stock option plans, optionsrds/@enerally vest over a four year period of cardus service and
have a 10 year contractual term. The fair valueazh option is amortized using an acceleratedriaation method over
the option’s vesting period. The fair value of eaption is estimated on the date of the grantgigie Black-Scholes option
pricing formula. There were 146,000 and 120,00600p granted during the years ended December G15 2nd 2014,
respectively.

Accounting for Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determbeesked on differences between financial reportinjtar bases of assets and
liabilities and operating loss and tax credit ckoryards and are measured using the enacted e aatl laws that will be in
effect when the difference and carryforwards angeeted to be recovered or settled. A valuatioovadhce for deferred tax
assets is provided when we estimate that it is rikeéy than not that all or a portion of the defd tax assets may not be
realized through future operations. This assessmdrased upon consideration of available posiind negative evidence
which includes, among other things, our most recestlts of operations and expected future prafitpb We consider our
actual historical results to have a stronger weilghh other more subjective indicators when comsigavhether to establish
or reduce a valuation allowance on deferred tagtass

As of December 31, 2015, we had approximately $ir¥lBon of net deferred tax assets, against whighprovided a 100%
valuation allowance. Our net deferred tax assetewenerated primarily by operating losses. Adiogty, it is more likely
than not, that we will not realize these assetsutn future operations.

The Company prescribes a recognition threshold medsurement attribute for the financial statemexbgnition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expectdxt tiaken in a tax return. Estimated interestdésnded as a component of
interest expense and penalties are recorded ampooent of general and administrative expenses.

Correction of an Immaterial Error

The Company identified an immaterial error relatedts classification on the consolidated balanicees for an accrued
liability that is due more than a year after théabee sheet date. The Company determined thatwuating for this accrued
liability, it did not properly classify it in longerm liabilities on the consolidated balance slaseatf December 31, 2014. The
Company reviewed the impact of this error on thergreriods in accordance with SEC guidelines oteniality of the error
from a qualitative and quantitative perspective datbrmined that the error was not material topifier period consolidated
financial statements. However, the Company hasectad the balance sheet for the year ended Dece®ihe2014 by
increasing the long-term accrued expenses and aldngethe accounts payable and accrued expensesrént liabilities by
$213,000. The impact of the error increased ourking capital ratio from .56:1 to .57:1 as of Dedmn 31, 2014. In
addition, the error had no impact on our bank camsas of December 31, 2014.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, as part of its ongoing efforts to asBi the convergence of U.S. GAAP and Internafiéiiaancial Reporting
Standards, the Financial Accounting Standards B{a#A®bB) issued a new standard related to revencegretion. Under
the new standard, recognition of revenue occursweheustomer obtains control of promised goodsporices in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the ergitpects to receive in exchange for those goodeivices. In addition, the
standard requires disclosure of the nature, amdiomtyg, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flawsing from contracts
with customers. The new standard will be effecfimeus beginning January 1, 2018. Early adopt®pédrmitted only as of
annual reporting periods beginning after Decemtaer2016. We anticipate this standard may have anmahtmpact on our
consolidated financial statements, and we are gthyrevaluating its impact.

In August 2014, FASB issued Preparation of FindnStatements - Going Concern, Disclosure of Undstitss about an
Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern.dgn GAAP, continuation of a reporting entity as @ng concern is
presumed as the basis for preparing financial rskatés unless and until the entity's liquidation dmes imminent.
Preparation of financial statements under thisiprggion is commonly referred to as the going comdssis of accounting.
If and when an entity's liquidation becomes imminéinancial statements should be prepared undelididation basis of
accounting in accordance with Presentation of FirsrStatements — Liquidation Basis of Accountingven when an
entity's liquidation is not imminent, there may dmnditions or events that raise substantial dobbtiathe entity's ability to
continue as a going concern. In those situatianan€ial statements should continue to be prepamneér the going concern

34



basis of accounting, but the amendments in thisatgpghould be followed to determine whether toldg information
about the relevant conditions and events. The aments in this update are effective for us on Jantar2017. Early
application is permitted. The Company will evaluélte going concern considerations, however, atcilmeent period,
management does not believe that it has met conditivhich would subject these financial statemdotsadditional
disclosure. We anticipate this update will not haweaterial impact on our consolidated financiatesnents.

In November 2015, the FASB issued Income Taxesa& Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, wiiatplifies the
presentation of deferred income taxes by requideferred tax assets and liabilities be classifisdhancurrent on the
balance sheet. The updated standard is effectivasfdoeginning on January 1, 2017 with early apfiie permitted as of
the beginning of any interim or annual reportingigpd We anticipate that this standard will not @a material impact on
our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB completed its Leasegptdy issuing Accounting Standards Update No.6202,LeasesThe
updated guidance establishes the principles torré@msparent and economically neutral informatdaout the assets and
liabilities that arise from leases. The updateidignuce:

» Results in a more faithful representation of thghts and obligations arising from leases by rengifessees to
recognize the lease assets and lease liabilitegsatise from leases in the statement of finanptition and to
disclose qualitative and quantitative informatidioat lease transactions, such as information abahble lease
payments and options to renew and terminate leases,

» Results in fewer opportunities for organizationsstaucture leasing transactions to achieve a péatiaccounting
outcome on the statement of financial position,

* Improves understanding and comparability of lessi®ancial commitments regardless of the mannerytbhoose
to finance the assets used in their businesses,

» Aligns lessor accounting and sale and leasebacisdrdions guidance more closely to comparable gu&lan
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and Othemhec

» Provides users of financial statements with add#fionformation about lessors’ leasing activitiesd dessors’
exposure to credit and asset risk as a resulasfirlg, and

» Clarifies the definition of a lease to address ficacissues that were raised about the previousitien of a lease
and to align the concept of control, as it is uigethe definition of a lease, more closely with ttentrol principle in
Consolidation.

The updated guidance is effective for us begindemguary 1, 2019. Early adoption of the updateeisnfited. The Company
is evaluating the impact of this updated guidant@ésconsolidated financial statements and reldisclosures.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth for the periods ratied, selected financial data and the percentaigt® Company'’s total
revenues by each line item for the periods presente

Years ended December 31, 2015 2014
Revenues:
Software license fees 2198 16.2%
Subscriptions 4.7 3.8
Services and maintenance 73.5 80.0
Total revenues 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of revenues:
Cost of software license fees 1665 17.4%
Cost of subscriptions, services and maintemanc 58.0 55.9
Total cost of revenues 74.5 73.3
Gross profit 25.5 26.7
Operating Expenses:
Product development 6.0 6.5
Sales and marketing 18.1 19.2
General and administrative 14.3 16.7
Goodwill impairment 6.7 -
Total operating expenses 45.1 42.4
Loss from operations (19% (15.7)
Interest expense, net 0.7 0.6
Income tax (benefit) expense (2.3 0.3
Net loss (19.0%) (16.6%)

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 201
Revenues

Total revenues increased $2,223,000 or 11%, td®%Z2)00 for the year ended December 31, 2015 fi2@n784,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2014. Software licensntes increased 49% in 2015 compared to 2014. Spiise revenues
increased $292,000 or 37% to $1,082,000 from $T@0jA 2014. Services and maintenance fees for 20iéunted to
$16,875,000, a 2% increase from 2014.

Software license fee revenues increased $1,648000% to $5,000,000 in 2015 from $3,357,000 in0Astea Alliance
license revenues increased to $4,976,000 in 2@kb $3,281,000 in 2014, an increase of 52%. Theeas® resulted from
an increase in Astea license sales in the U.Sgfeuand Asia Pacific regions partially offset bgmases in license sales in
Japan. The Company sold $24,000 of FieldCentrenkes in 2015, a decrease of $52,000 from last Yeardecrease was
the result of selling fewer licenses to existingtomers in 2015 compared to 2014.

Subscription revenue for the year ended Decembef@15 was $1,082,000, an increase of 37%, comparéd 90,000
recognized in 2014. The increase resulted fromntim@ber of hosted customers who went live in 20The Company
continues to add new hosting customers. Even tindluig Company signed several new SaaS custom@xl ik revenue is
not recognized until the customers go live.

Total services and maintenance revenues increa288,(0 or 2% to $16,875,000 in 2015 from $16,587,0h 2014.
Service and maintenance revenue increased $73806@ on the Astea Alliance products. The incee@sulted from the
revenue recognition of deferred professional ses/ievenues on hosted projects, which were defemgtthe customer
went live. When hosted customers do go live,dbterred professional services revenue is recodmniagbly over the
remaining life of the initial contract. FieldCemtrservice and maintenance revenue decreased BH@015%. The
decrease is due to a reduction in upgrade projegsspomers transitioning to Alliance and loss aftomers compared to the
same period in 2014.
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In 2015, there was one customer that accountedl286 of total revenues and in 2014 there were ndomeys that
accounted for 10% or more of total revenues.

Costs of Revenues

Costs of software license fees increased 5% ta0$380 in 2015 from $3,623,000 in 2014. Includethim cost of software
license fees is the amortization of capitalizedvgafe development costs and the cost of all thindypsoftware embedded in
the Company’'s software licenses which are sold ustamers. Amortization of capitalized software depment costs
increased 6% to $3,723,000 in 2015 compared td0®3)B0 in 2014. This increase resulted from thateadl amortization
of Version 12.5 that was released in 2015 alondh winortization of versions 12.0, 11.0 and 11.5. §hess margin
percentage on software license sales was 24% iB a8dl (8%) in 2014. The increase in license groasgin resulted
primarily from increased license sales partiallisef by an increase in amortization in 2015.

Costs of subscriptions, services and maintenanoeased 15% to $13,307,000 in 2015 from $11,588i0D14. The

increase in cost of subscription, service and reamtce is attributed primarily to increases in keadt in Europe and

Australia, travel expenses in all regions and Ingstiosts from a growing customer base, partiallyadfoy a decrease in the
use of outside consultants in the U.S. and Europeeations. The subscriptions, service and maimte@agross margin

percentage was 26% in 2015 and 33% in 2014. Theedse in gross margin on subscription, servicesraaititenance

revenues resulted from the increase in costs disduabove, partially offset by an increase in stjpon and service

revenue.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased 6% to $5,845,000 in 2016 5,523,000 in 2014. As a percentage of revermassgrofit was 25%

for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared%ofar year ended December 31, 2014. The year-ovar-gecrease in

gross profit as a percentage of revenue was dtiyethe 11% increase in revenues, offset by a 12%ease in costs of
revenues. The increase in costs of revenues edspiitmarily from increased amortization of capitadl software, which is

included in the cost of license fees, and increas#se cost of subscriptions, which resulted frimcreases in the number of
users and increases in the cost of services dinerase headcount in Europe and Australia.

Operating Expenses
Product Development

Product development expenses increased $32,000,3825000 in 2015 from $1,350,000 in 2014. Sofemdevelopment
costs of $2,407,000 were capitalized in 2015 coeghan $2,532,000 during the same period in 201dos§&development
expense was $3,789,000 in 2015, a reduction ofc@¥pared to $3,882,000 for the same period in 20h% decrease was
primarily due to a decrease in the value of thedirshekel compared to the U.S. dollar. Most led Company’s
development occurs in Israel. Product developmeiat percentage of revenues was 6% in 2015 and 2@ilih.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased 5%, orCRIB7p $4,167,000 in 2015 from $3,980,000 in 200i# increase in
sales and marketing expense is attributable toenease in sales headcount in all regions, incri@asemmissions related to
an increase in license revenue and increases émnextmarketing costs compared to the prior yaa20d15, the Company
attended tradeshows in the U.S., Europe and Aisttampared to the prior year where we only attdrtdedeshows in the
U.S. The Company continues to focus on expandmgniarket presence through intensified marketingreffto increase
awareness of the Company’s products, including SamSsubscription services. This occurs throughube of Webinars
focused in the vertical industries in which the Qamy operates, attendance at selected trade shodiécreased efforts in
lead generation for its sales force. As a pergentd revenues, sales and marketing expenses Wasn18015 compared to
19% in 2014. The decreased percentage is duergaised revenues in 2015.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist ofieg)denefits and related costs for the Compafiyésce, administrative
and executive management personnel, legal costsuating costs, bad debt expense and various asstxiated with the
Company’s status as a public company. General dmirgstrative expenses decreased 5%, or $179,0063,276,000 in

2015 from $3,455,000 in 2014. The decrease is pilyndue to lower accounting fees, resulting frorahenge in the use of
our registered public accounting firm, less usageutside consultants and lower fees as the Compmwed to the OTCQB
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listing from NASDAQ. As a percentage of revenugsneral and administrative expenses was 14% fob 20inpared to
17% for 2014. The Company remains focused on clinfyats operating costs.

Goodwill Impairment

We conducted our annual goodwill impairment testfaSctober 1, 2015 for our FieldCentrix reportingjt. This test, which

was based on our most recent forecasts for theatpgrunit, indicated that FieldCentrix's carryinglue exceeded its
estimated fair value. After completing step 2 le# goodwill impairment test, a goodwill impairmeftarge of $1,538,000
was recorded in operating expenses in the fourtirtqu of 2015. The non-cash goodwill impairmentrgbearelated to

goodwill recorded in connection with our acquisitiof FieldCentrix in 2005. During 2015, there haei a reduction in
license, service, and maintenance revenues dine tosgs of a few customers and a lack of new custeri\ccordingly, our

expectations for future growth and profitabilityr feieldCentrix are lower than our previous estirmat&e do not expect this
impairment charge to affect FieldCentrix's ongdinginess operations or financial performance.

Net Interest Expense

Net interest expense was $159,000 in 2015 compar$ii24,000 in 2014. The Company incurred inteegpense resulting
from borrowing against its line of credit with ithief executive officer and SVB Bank. The incregsar over year is due to
increased borrowings in 2015 compared to 2014 hadhimortization of fees incurred to obtain the tie of credit with
SVB. The Company earned interest income of $1j@0Both 2015 and 2014. As of December 31, 2015 201, the
Company’s investments consisted of mutual funds.

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

The Company recorded an income tax benefit of $BLin 2015 compared to tax expense of $61,0000i42 The
decrease resulted from the impairment of goodwillwihich the Company reversed the tax differen¢ated to goodwill.
Tax expense is comprised of U.S. alternative mimntax, tax differences for goodwill, and the Isre! expense.

International Operations

Total revenues from the Company’s international rapens increased by $117,000 or 1% to $8,013,60@015 from
$7,896,000 in 2014. The increase resulted fromrawed license sales in Europe and Australia, as$ agelincreases in
professional services in the Asia Pacific regioe duwainly from revenue from certain customers thattwive on the SaaS
solution in 2015 and additional maintenance revenuEMEA as they have increased their customer loase the past
several years. Offsetting these increases ime&were decreases in license and services res@ndapan, due to fewer
new license sales in 2015 and a decrease in s@axeaues in EMEA due to recent SaaS projects factwrevenue is being
deferred until the customer goes live. Overatgrinational operations generated a net loss 097080 for 2015 compared to
net loss of $1,610,000 in 2014 due to delayed nge®in EMEA for SaaS deals and the decline in Jajigense deals which
has resulted in lower than usual service revenderameased operating expenses due to increasdddwed in all international
regions except Japan.

Net Loss

The Company generated a net loss of $4,366,00théoyear ended December 31, 2015 compared to sebfd$3,447,000

in 2014. The reduction in net income of $919,00primarily the result of the net impact of the daill impairment charge

net of the related tax benefit. Without the gootlimipairment charge, the company would have hadtdass of $3,221,000
which is a slight improvement compared to 2014 e ithprovement in operating results was due to arease in revenues
partially offset by increases in amortization opitalized software and subscription, services, maihtenance costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $3,090 for the year ended December 31, 2015, aeaserof $1,131,000
compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 ichv##,067,000 of cash was provided by operatidiige increase was
mainly attributable to an increase in cash provibdgdeferred revenues of $1,559,000 and accounabpa and accrued
expenses of $1,205,000. Offsetting the increasessh flow were a decrease in net income of $@09,8nd a decrease in
cash provided by accounts receivable of $1,952,008ddition, there was an increase in adjustmiamtaon-cash items of
$1,306,000, which includes the goodwill impairmeharge of $1,538,000.
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Investing Activities

The Company used $85,000 less for investment &esvin 2015 compared to 2014. The decrease inusesth for investing
activities is attributable to a decrease of $126,00capitalized software development costs, prtiaffset by a $2,000
increase in restricted cash, an increase of $1900@ purchases of property and equipment ancedse in proceeds from
the sale of short-term investments of $19,000.

Financing Activities

The Company used $247,000 in cash for financingvides in 2015, a reduction of $1,022,000 compared
2014. Payments of preferred stock dividends irsré@180,000 in 2015 compared to 2014 due to saise of additional
preferred shares in June 2014. In addition, theng2my paid $118,000 in deferred financing cost0t4 compared to
$27,000 in 2015. The Company repaid $150,000 enlitte of credit from the CEO during 2015 compatedepaying
$250,000 in 2014. In 2014, the Company borrowe@0$00 on the line of credit from the CEO versugdreowv downs on
this line of credit in 2015. In addition in 201the Company entered into a line of credit with S\UBwhich the Company
borrowed $4,957,000 and repaid $3,954,000 in 2@tpared to borrowing $770,000 and repaying $400i0@015.

The cash effect of exchange rate changes on theddlfr related to other currencies in which thenpany operates,
primarily the Australian dollar, Japanese yen, Eueo, the British pound sterling and Israel shegebvided an outflow of
$127,000 in 2015 compared to an outflow of $9,0602014.

At December 31, 2015, the Company had a workingtalamtio of approximately .58:1 compared to .5@tIDecember 31,
2014. The Company had $1,676,000 in cash, caslvaquots and investments available for sale at Dbeer81, 2015,
compared to $1,362,000 at December 31, 2014.

The Company has projected revenues that manageedintzes will provide sufficient funds to sustais icontinuing
operations for at least the next twelve monthsoweler, the Company expects to continue to inculitexhal operating
expenses for research and development and invesifiware development costs to achieve its projecé@enue growth.
We continually evaluate our operating cash flowsiclwhcan vary subject to the actual timing of expdchew sales
compared to our expectations of those sales andesustive to many factors, including changes imkivg capital and our
net loss. The projections of future cash needscasth flows are subject to substantial uncertaiig. of December 31,
2015, the Company did not owe anything againstlittee of credit from its Chief Executive Officer amved $1,374,000
against the line of credit from Silicon Valley BalsVB”) which is not due to be repaid until Ap2018. The availability
under the SVB line of credit is tied to a borrowingse formula that is based on 80% of the Compagligéble domestic
accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2015, \théability under the SVB line of credit was $62600

The Company was in compliance with the financiabesants with SVB as of December 31, 2015. Indkent the
Company does not continue to meet its financiakoants and SVB does not extend a waiver or forbearagreement, and
the Company believes that it does not have adedjgaidity to operate, the Company will implement@st cutting plan that
reduces its expenditures to the appropriate léwalmatches its operating cash flows.

The Company does not plan any significant capitpkaditures for at least the next twelve month&othan to support its
operations. The Company’s plans for continued stment in product development and capitalized softwcosts are
expected to be similar to prior years.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
The following tables summarize our contractual eashmercial obligations, as of December 31, 2015:

Payment Due By Period

Total 2016 2017-2018 2019-2020 thereafter
Contractual Cash Obligations:
Operating Leases $ 1,674,000 $ 1,102,000 $ 559,000 $ 13,000 $ -
Line of Credit 1,374,000 - 1,374,000 - -
Total $ 3,048,000 $ 1,102,000 $ 1,933,000 $ 13,000 $ -

Dividends may be paid on common stock, when andeitlared by the Board of Directors. However, hidénd has been
paid on common stock since July 2000. Dividendsamvertible preferred stock are payable at aghtE0% on the Series
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A and 7% on the Series B on a quarterly basisgakarkd by the Board of Directors. The rate onSbges B will increase to
10% on June 30, 2016.

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

There are no off balance sheet transactions thaldwequire disclosure in the above contractuaigalblons and commercial
commitments table.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures &out Market Risk.

Market risk represents the risk of loss that mapant our financial position due to adverse charigeinancial market
prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is piiyna result of fluctuations in interest rates. We not hold financial
instruments for trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2015, the Company’s debt consiktslime of credit with SVB. At December 31, 201Be outstanding
balance owed on our line of credit under the rewmgj\credit facility with SVB was $1,374,000. At Bember 31, 2015 and
2014, our outstanding debt related to our outstandines of credit under the revolving credit fagilwith our Chief
Executive Officer was $and $150,000, respectively. Our credit facilitym8VB has a variable interest rate, which exposes
us to interest rate risks.

Foreign Currency Risk

All costs associated with the Company’s foreignrapiens in Europe, Asia/Pacific, Japan and Isreelde@nominated in their
respective local currencies and translated into. ddars for financial reporting. As a result, t@®mpany is exposed to
risks to the extent that the rate of inflation myaof its foreign operating regions differs fronetrate of revaluation of their
related currencies in relation to the U.S. dollaif the timing of such revaluations lags behinflation in these regions. In
such an event, the costs of the Company’s opemtiothese regions, measured in U.S. dollars, ahiinge and the U.S.
dollar measured results of operations will be daédc

The Company does not use foreign currency forwachange contracts or purchased currency optionsetige local
currency cash flows or for trading purposes. Ales arrangements with international customerglan@minated in foreign
currency. The Company does not expect any matiesal with respect to foreign currency riskor the twelve months
ended December 31, 2015, approximately 35% of theg@ny’s overall revenue resulted from sales tdocners outside
the United States. A 10% change in the value efUlS. dollar relative to each of the currencieshef Company’s non-
U.S.-generated sales would not have resulted iatanmal change to its results of operations. Then@any does not expect
any material loss with respect to foreign currensk.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Astea International Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheet of Astea International Inc. and subskkafthe “Company”)
as of December 31, 2015, and the related consetidatatements of operations, comprehensive losangels in
stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows tbe year then ended. These financial statementhanesponsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these financial statements basedr audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staisd of the Public Company Accounting Oversight rdogJnited

States). Those standards require that we plan erfidrp the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetatteether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Tmep@ny is not required to have, nor were we engageerform, an audit
of its internal controls over financial reportir@ur audit included consideration of internal cohtreer financial reporting as
a basis for designing audit procedures that areoppjate in the circumstances, but not for the paepof expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s maéicontrol over financial reporting. Accordinghye express no such
opinion. An audit includes examining, on a testifasvidence supporting the amounts and disclosurdbe financial

statements. An audit also includes assessing ttwuating principles used and significant estimaitesle by management,

as well as evaluating the overall financial statem@esentation. We believe that our audit providesasonable basis for
our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated
financial position of Astea International Inc. asubsidiaries as of December 31, 2015, and the tidated results of their

operations and their cash flows for the year theehed in conformity with accounting principles geaibr accepted in the
United States of America.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 30, 2016
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Astea International Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheet of Astea International Inc. and subsklafthe “Company”)
as of December 31, 2014 and the related consafiddements of operations, comprehensive lossgelsan stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for the year ended Decen¥ier2014. These financial statements are the redpbty of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these financial statements basedr audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsd of the Public Company Accounting Oversight f8ogUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan erfidrp the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetatteether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. We wet engaged to perform an audit of the Compaimg&rnal control
over financial reporting. Our audit included comrsmtion of internal control over financial repogtias a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the cistantes, but not for the purpose of expressing @iniam on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdigancial reporting. Accordingly, we express nels opinion. An audit
also includes examining, on a test basis, evidesugporting the amounts and disclosures in the filahrstatements,
assessing the accounting principles used and gignifestimates made by management, as well asaivaj the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadit provides a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeneferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial
position of Astea International Inc. and subsidiaras of December 31, 2014, and the results af tipeirations and their
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20bbmmfiormity with accounting principles generally apted in the United
States of America.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 31, 2015
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ASTEA INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2015 2014
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,663,000 $ 1,349,000
Investments available for sale 13,000 13,000
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $68,800 $73,000 5,597,000 4,084,000
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 368,000 488,000
Total current assets 7,641,000 5,934,000
Property and equipment, net 173,000 176,000
Intangibles, net - 96,000
Capitalized software development costs, net 3,381,000 4,697,000
Goodwill - 1,538,000
Restricted cash 128,000 126,000
Other long-term assets 98,000 98,000
Total assets $ 11,421,000 $ 12,665,000
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Line of credit from director/ officer $ - $ 150,000
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,580,000 2,130,000
Deferred revenues 10,69300( 8,179,000
Total current liabilities 13,27300C 10,179,000
Long-term liabilities:
Line of credit from Silicon Valley Bank 1,374,000 1,004,00!
Long term accrued expenses 237,000 213,000
Deferred tax liabilities 29,00C 374,000
Deferred revenues 1,045,000 394,000
Total long-term liabilities 2,685,000 1,772,000
Commitments and Contingencies — Note 10
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) :
Convertible preferred stock,$.01 par valuerehauthorized 5,000,000:
Series A issued and outstanding 826gb@des 8,000 8,000
Series B issued and outstanding 797sb@des 8,000 8,000
Common stock $.01 par value, 25,000,000 shardwrized; issued
3,629,000; outstanding 3,587,000 shares 36,000 36,000
Additional paid-in-capital 32,417,000 32,716,000
Accumulated deficit (35,847,000) (31,481,000)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (951,000) (858,000)
Treasury stock at cost, 42,000 common shares (208,000) (208,000)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (4,537,000) 221,000
Total liabilities and stockholders’ etyujdeficit) $ 11,421,000 $ 12,665,000

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financ&atements.
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ASTEA INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues:
Software license fees
Subscriptions
Services and maintenance

Total revenues

Costs of revenues:
Cost of software license fees

Cost of subscriptions, services and maintenance

Total cost of revenues
Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Product development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Goodwill impairment
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense

Net loss
Preferred dividend

Net loss allocable/available to common stockholders $

Basic and diluted loss per share available to

common stockholders

Weighted average shares outstanding used in
computing basic and diluted loss per share

Years ended
December 31,

2015 2014
5,000,000 $ 3,357,000
1,082,000 790,000
16,875,000 16,587,000
22,957,000 20,734,000
3,805,000 3,623,000
,3073000 11,588,000
17,112,000 15,211,000
5,845,000 5,523,000
1,382,000 1,350,000
4,167,000 3,980,000
3,276,000 3,455,000
1,538,000 -
10,363,000 8,785,000
(4,518,000 (3,262,000)
159,000 124,000
(4,677,000 (3,386,000)
(311,p00 61,000
(4,366,000 (3,447,000)
500,000 400,000
(4,866000) $ (3,847,000
(1.36) $ (1.09)
3,587,000 3,587,000

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financ&atements.
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ASTEA INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Years ended
December 31,

2015 2014
Net loss $ (4,366000) $  (3,447,000)
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustment 4,090) 54,000
Change in unrealized loss on
investments available for sale, net of tax 1,000 (1,000)
Comprehensive loss $ (4,459,000 $  (3,394000)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financ&atements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’

ASTEA INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Series A Series B Accumulated
convertible convertible other Total
preferred preferred Additional compre- stockholders’
stockat par stock at par Common paid-in- hensive Accumulated  Treasury equity (deficit)
value value stock capital loss deficit stock

Balances at December 31, 2013 $ 8,000 $ —$ 36,000 $ 30,938,000$% (911,000$ (28,034,000 (208,000) $ 1,829,000
Net los: — — — — — (3,447,000) — (3,447,000
Series A and B preferred

dividends — — — (400,000) — — — (400,000
Amortization of preferred stock

dividend — — — 30,000 — — — 30,000
Stock-based compensation — — — 156,000 — — — 156,000
Other comprehensive loss — — — — 53,000 — — 53,000
Series B preferred stock issued,

net — 8,000 — 1,992,000 — — — 2,000,000
Balances at December 31, 2014 $ 8,000 $ 8,000 $ 36,000 $ 32,716,000$ (858,000$ (31,481,000 (208,000) $ 221,000
Net los: — — — — — (4,366,000) — (4,366,000)
Series A and B preferred

dividends — — — (500,000) — — — (500,000)
Amortization of preferred stock

dividend — — — 60,000 — — — 60,000
Stock-based compensation — — — 141,000 — — — 141,000
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (93,000 — — (93,000)
Balances at December 31, 2015 $ 8,000 $ 8,000 36,000% 32,417,000  (951,000$% (35,847,000% (208,000) $ (4,537,000)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financ&atements.
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ASTEA INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financ&atements.
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Years ended December 31, 2015 2014
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (4,366000) $ (3,447,000)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cashiged by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 3,92400( 3,836,000
Amortization of deferred financing cost 82,00( 41,000
Decrease in provision for doubtful accts (5,000 (38,000)
Stock-based compensation 141,00 156,000
Deferred income taxes (345000 34,000
Goodwill impairment 1,538,001
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables (1,612,0C) 340,000
Prepaid expenses and other 10100C 162,000
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 36200( (843,000)
Deferred revenues 3,37800c 1,819,000
Other assets - 7,000
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,19800( 2,067,000
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capitalized software development costs (2,407000) (2,532,000)
Purchases of property and equipment (2102000 (83,000)
Sale of short-term investments 1,00(¢ 20,000
Change in restricted cash (2,000 -
Net cash used in investing activities (2,510000) (2,595,000)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment on line of credit from director/oéfic (150,000 (250,000
Proceeds from line of credit from director/oéf - 400,000
Repayment on line of credit from Silicon VallBgnk (400000) (3,954,000)
Proceeds from line of credit from Silicon VallBank 77000C 4,957,000
Dividends paid on preferred stock (440000) (260,000)
Deferred financing cost (27,000 (118,000)
Net cash (used in) provided by financintivitées (247,000 775,000
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash ardezpsvalents (127,000) (9,000)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 31400( 238,000
Cash and cash equivalents balance, beginniggaof 1,34900( 1,111,000
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 1,66300C $ 1,349,000
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Issuance of preferred stock (Series B) - $ 2,000,000
Cancellation of line of credit from directorficer - (2,000,00i)
Cash paid for interest 78,00( 87,000
Cash paid for income taxes 45,00( 41,000



ASTEA INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Company Background

Astea International Inc. and Subsidiaries (colledti the “Company” or “Astea”) are a global providef service
management software that addresses the unique péedsipanies who manage capital equipment, missiitical assets
and human capital. Clients include Fortune 50fhim-size companies, which Astea services througmgzmy facilities in
the United States, United Kingdom, Australia, Japthe Netherlands and Israel. The Company’s aicproducts are
Astea Alliance, FX Service Center and FX Mobile.stéa Alliance supports the complete service lifegyfrom lead
generation and project quotation to service arlthgithrough asset retirement. FX Service Cerdex service management
and dispatch solution system that gives organigat@ommand over their field service operationsX Nfobile offerings
include mobile field service automation (FSA) sysse which include the wireless devices and suppbmnobile field
technicians using portable, hand-held computingo#gsv Astea Alliance is also offered as a clouditsmh. By leveraging
the cloud delivery model, companies can accesslw&i@o that has robust and proven functionalityaatower, more
predictable cost, with seamless upgrades and &equieturn on investment. Since its inceptiod 979, Astea has licensed
applications to companies in a wide range of sedtwluding information technology, telecommunioas, instruments and
controls, business systems, and medical devices.Cidmpany’s sales and marketing efforts are prignéoscused on new
software licensing (on premise and cloud soluticens)l support services for its latest generatioistta Alliance and
FieldCentrix products.

Correction of an Immaterial Error

The Company identified an immaterial error relatedts classification on the consolidated balanicees for an accrued
liability that is due more than a year after théabee sheet date. The Company determined thatwuating for this accrued
liability, it did not properly classify it in longerm liabilities on the consolidated balance slaseatf December 31, 2014. The
Company reviewed the impact of this error on therpreriods in accordance with SEC guidelines otenity of the error
from a qualitative and quantitative perspective datbrmined that the error was not material toptfier period consolidated
financial statements. However, the Company hasected the balance sheet for the year ended Dece®ihe2014 by
increasing the long-term accrued expenses and aldngethe accounts payable and accrued expensesrént liabilities by
$213,000. The impact of the error increased ourking capital ratio from .56:1 to .57:1 as of Dedmn 31, 2014. In
addition, the error had no impact on our bank camsas of December 31, 2014.

Operating Matters and Liquidity

The Company has a history of net losses and amadated deficit of $35,847,000 as of December 3152 In 2015, the
Company generated a net loss of $4.4 million coegbéw a net loss of $3.4 million generated in 20E4rther, at December
31, 2015, the Company had a working capital rati®®:1, with cash and cash equivalents and investsnavailable for sale
of $1,676,000. Moreover, the Company expects toticoe to incur additional operating expenses fesearch and
development and investment in software developroestis to achieve its projected revenue growth. cérginually evaluate
our operating cash flows which can vary subjedhtactual timing of expected new sales comparezitexpectations of
those sales and are sensitive to many factorgjdimzy changes in working capital and our net lofke Company believes
that it has sufficient cash to meet its anticipaipdrating cash needs for at least the next 12hmoktowever, projections of
future cash needs and cash flows are subject tstamiial uncertainty. We continually evaluate opemating cash flows
which can vary subject to the actual timing of estpd new sales compared to our expectations oketkates and are
sensitive to many factors, including changes inkivay capital and our results of operations. A®etember 31, 2015 the
Company did not owe anything against the line efldrfrom its Chief Executive Officer and $1,374008gainst the line of
credit from Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”). The auability under the SVB line of credit is tied tobarrowing base formula
that is based on 80% of the Company’s eligible dsiitmeaccounts receivable. As of December 31, 2@i& availability
under the line of credit was $626,000. The Comphag projected revenues that management believiépnovide
sufficient funds along with lines of credit to saistits continuing operations for at least the rniestlve months.

The Company was in compliance with the financiales@ants for the line of credit with SVB as of Det®mn31, 2015. In
the event the Company does not meet its financeaéwants in the future, SVB does not extend a waiveforbearance
agreement, and the Company does not believe thaisibdequate liquidity to operate, the Companlyimiplement a cost
cutting plan, if necessary, that would reduce xisemditures to the appropriate level that matctsegperating cash flows.
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The Company does not plan any significant capitpeeaditures for at least the next twelve month&wothan to replace its
existing capital equipment as it becomes obsolte. Company’s plans for investment in product depelent and
capitalized software costs are expected to beairtul prior years.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include ttwmants of Astea International Inc. and its whallyned subsidiaries and
branches. All significant intercompany accounts iadsactions have been eliminated upon consatidati

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of
America requires management to make estimates ssurgtions that affect the reported amounts oftassel liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilaiethe date of the financial statements and therted amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actuslite could differ from those estimates. Significassets and liabilities
that are subject to estimates include allowancesléobtful accounts, the carrying amount of goobaiild other acquired
intangible assets, valuation of deferred tax asssdscertain accrued liabilities and share-baseatdsy

Revenue Recognition

Astea’s revenue is principally recognized from éhemurces: (i) licensing arrangements, (ii) sulpsiom services and (iii)
services and maintenance.

The Company markets its products primarily throitghdirect sales force and resellers. Licenseegents do not provide
for a right of return, and historically, productums have not been significant.

The Company recognizes revenue from license satheswall of the following criteria are met: perswasevidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, thadiedee is fixed and determinable and the collaabiothe fee is probable.
The Company utilizes written contracts as a meansstablish the terms and conditions by which itedpct support and
services are sold to customers. Delivery is cansid to have occurred when title and risk of lomgehbeen transferred to
the customer, which generally occurs after a lieeksy has been delivered electronically to thearast. Revenue for
arrangements with extended payment terms in exafemse year is recognized when the payments becturaeprovided all

other recognition criteria are satisfied. If cotlbility is not considered probable, revenue gmized when the fee is
collected. The Company’s typical end user licemgeeements do not contain acceptance clauses. udowbkacceptance
criteria are required, revenues are deferred anstomer acceptance has occurred.

If these criteria are not met, then revenue is rdedeuntil such criteria are met or until the pd(&) over which the last
undelivered element is delivered. If there is ofijecand reliable evidence of fair value for allitgnof accounting in an
arrangement, the arrangement consideration isesa#ldcto the separate units of accounting basedhom enit's relative fair
value. There may be cases, however, in which tisesbjective and reliable evidence of fair valudted undelivered item(s)
but no such evidence for the delivered item(s)tHose cases, the residual method is used to aldbat arrangement
consideration. Under the residual method, the amotitonsideration allocated to the delivered iten¥quals the total
arrangement consideration less the aggregate &irevof the undelivered item(s). The Company apptiee revenue
recognition policies discussed below to each sépanait of accounting.

Astea allocates revenue to each element in a restiiement arrangement based on the elements’ aiapdair value,
determined by the price charged when the elemestli separately. Specifically, Astea determirres fair value of the
maintenance portion of the arrangement based oprtbe, at the date of sale, if sold separatelyictvlis generally a fixed
percentage of the software license selling pritlke professional services portion of the arrangerisdmased on hourly rates
which the Company charges for those services wiodth Separately from software. If evidence of faalue of all
undelivered elements exists, but evidence doesxist for one or more delivered elements, thenmegds recognized using
the residual method. If an undelivered elementafbich evidence of fair value does not exist, allanue in an arrangement
is deferred until the undelivered element is dedeor fair value can be determined. Under th&duas method, the fair
value of the undelivered elements is deferred hademaining portion of the arrangement fee isgaiaed as revenue. The
proportion of the revenue recognized upon deliveay vary from quarter-to-quarter depending uponddigrmination of
vendor-specific objective evidence (“WSOE") of faialue of undelivered elements. The residual vaddier allocation of
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the fee to the undelivered elements based on VSQ&rovalue, is then allocated to the perpetudtveare license for the
software products being sold.

When appropriate, the Company may allocate a podfdts software revenue to post-contract suppotitities or to other
services or products provided to the customer dfegharge or at non-standard rates when provideminunction with the
licensing arrangement. Amounts allocated are bapet standard prices charged for those servicgsaatucts which, in
the Company’s opinion, approximate fair value. t®afe license fees for resellers or other membétbeindirect sales
channel are based on a fixed percentage of the &uayigp standard prices. The Company recognizesvaodt license
revenue for such contracts based upon the termscanditions provided by the reseller to its custoniéhe Company
regularly communicates with its resellers and redxes revenue based on information from its reellegarding possible
returns and collectability. However, the Compangsinot have a history of returns from the resellers

In subscription based arrangements, even thougtoroess use the software element, they generallynalo have a

contractual right to take possession of the softvedrany time during the hosting period withouhgigant penalty to either
run the software on its own hardware or contrath w&h unrelated third party to host the softwarecakdingly, software as
a service (SaaS) arrangements, including the sodtliGense fees within the arrangements, are ateduor as subscription
services provided all other revenue recognitiotedd have been met. The revenue is recognized stnaight-line basis
over the lifetime of the contract. A SaaS contia@enerally 1 to 3 years in duration. In accor@awith generally accepted
accounting principles, the Company may not recagminy SaaS revenue before the services go livensare that the
revenue will match the use of services. The implaatéon period can usually be anywhere betweend312nmonths. When
upfront implementation, consulting and trainingveegs are bundled with the subscription based geaent, the services
are recognized over the remaining life of the @hitiontract, once the project goes live.

The post-contract support on perpetual licensesiges for technical support and unspecified updédethe Company's
software products. Post-contract support is chasggdrately for renewals of annual maintenanceilisequent years. Fair
value for maintenance is based upon either reneat@$ stated in the contracts or separate salemnefvals to customers.
Revenue is recognized ratably, or monthly, overténm of the maintenance period, which is typicaihe year.

Consulting revenue and training service revenugeanerally unbundled and recognized at the timeséineices are performed,
except as noted above, when these services ardebunith subscription revenues. If the Company mniteto a fixed-price
arrangement for services, the revenue is recognizedj the proportional performance method basedi@tt labor hours
incurred to date as a percentage of total estinditedt labor hours required to complete the projdeees from licenses sold
together with consulting services are generallpgeized upon shipment, provided that the contrastideen executed, delivery
of the software has occurred, fees are fixed anermnable and collection is probable. The Compefigrs a variety of
consulting services that include project managememilementation, data conversion, integration,t@usreport writing
and training. Our professional services are gelyebdlled on a time and materials basis using hpuates together with
reimbursement for travel and accommodation expengesrecognize revenue as these professional ssraie performed.
On rare occasions these consulting service arragigisninvolve acceptance criteria. In these cass®nue is recognized
upon acceptance.

We present taxes assessed by a governmental aytimmliding sales, use, value added and excisestax a net basis.
Therefore, the presentation of these taxes is drdufrom our revenues and is included in accruegkerses in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets until aonciunts are remitted to the taxing authority.

Reimbursable Expenses

The Company charges customers for out-of-pocketresgs incurred by its employees during the perfocamaf professional
services in the normal course of business. Balifuy out-of-pocket expenses that are reimbursethdygustomer are included
in revenues with the corresponding expense includembst of subscriptions, services and maintenarering fiscal years
2015 and 2014, the Company billed $360,000 and $8238respectively, of reimbursable expenses ttomess.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmgnichased with an original maturity of three mendhless when purchased to be
cash equivalents.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company defines the fair value as the pricé wauld be received to sell an asset or paid tosfiex a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantb@tmeasurement date.

The Company accounts for certain assets and liakilat fair value. The hierarchy below lists thilevels of fair value
based on the extent to which inputs in measurimgvieue are observable in the market. We categogiach of our fair
value measurements in one of these three levelsdbas the lowest level input that is significant ttee fair value
measurement in its entirety. These levels are:

1. Level 1 - Valuations based on quoted pricesctiva markets for identical assets that the Comgaasythe ability
to access.

2. Level 2 - Valuations based on inputs on othanthuoted prices included within Level 1, for whadhsignificant
inputs are observable, either directly or indingctl

3. Level 3 - Valuations based on inputs that ar@bgarvable and significant to the overall fair walaeasurement.
The inputs reflect the Company’s assumptions atfmuassumptions a market participant would useiging the
assets.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalgatie accounts receivable, trade accounts payablaecrued expenses
and the line of credit approximate fair value beseaaf the short-term nature of these instruments.

Investments classified as available for sale arasmed using quoted market prices multiplied bygbantity held where
guoted market prices were available. The Compayrigently invested in mutual funds. The aggredaitevalue of mutual
funds as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $13.008.mutual funds are valued using Level 1 inputd eontain
investments that seek high level of current incofiteere were no impairments of investments as oebwer 31, 2015 and
2014.

Investments are considered to be impaired whencbndein fair value is judged to be other-than-temgpy. Fair value is

calculated based on publicly available market imation or other estimates determined by managen®atemploy a

systematic methodology on a quarterly basis thasiders available quantitative and qualitative emitk in evaluating

potential impairment of our investments. If thetoaofsan investment exceeds its fair value, we eatgluamong other factors,
general market conditions, credit quality, the doraand extent to which the fair value is lessntltast, and for equity
securities, our intent and ability to hold, or @ato sell, the investment. For fixed income semsgjtwe also evaluate
whether we have plans to sell the security or ingre likely than not that we will be required &llghe security before

recovery. We also consider specific adverse camitrelated to the financial health of and busiesgkok for the investee,
including industry and sector performance, changdschnology, and operational and financing cdstv factors. Once a

decline in fair value is determined to be othemtt@mporary, an impairment charge is recorded @roincome (expense)
and a new cost basis in the investment is estaalish

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company records an allowance for doubtful astohased on specifically identified amounts thahagement believes
to be uncollectible. The Company also records ddiitianal allowance based on certain percentageagefl accounts
receivables, which are determined based on hisfoggperience and management’s assessment of trexagdinancial
conditions affecting the Company’s customer baseeOmanagement determines that an account wilbaatollected, the
account is written off against the allowance fouloliful accounts. If actual collections experiesbanges, revisions to the
allowance may be required.

Activity in the allowance for doubtful accountsas follows:

Balance at Balance at

Year Ended December 31  beginning of year Reductions Write offs end of year
2015 $ 73000 $ (5,000) $ - $ 68,000
2014 $ 112,000 $ (39,000) $ - $ 73,000

The Company reviews accounts receivable on a mpihtddis to determine if any accounts receivabldspaeientially be
uncollectible. Based on a review and assessmehtdhformation available at December 31, 2015 204, the Company
believes its allowance for doubtful accounts aPetember 31, 2015 and 2014 is adequate. Howewvtralawrite-offs
might exceed the recorded allowance.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Rigtien and amortization are provided using theigtit-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the related assetseolease term, whichever is shorter. When ptg@erd equipment are sold
or otherwise disposed of, the fixed asset accondtralated accumulated depreciation account aievesl and any gain or
loss is included in operations. Expenditures &pairs and maintenance are charged to expensewseith and significant
renewals and betterments are capitalized.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets, ifotudtertain identifiable intangible assets, exahgdigoodwill, for
impairment whenever events or changes in circurnstindicate that the carrying amount of such assety not be
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be hettused is measured by a comparison of the cargnmgunt of any asset to
future undiscounted net cash flows expected todmeigted by the asset. If such assets are coagditteibe impaired, the
impairment is measured by the amount by which #reying amount of the asset exceeds the fair vafube assets. As of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company deterntiagcho impairments have occurred.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes software development dostsrred during the period from the establishmeitechnological
feasibility through the product’s availability fgeneral release. Costs incurred prior to the &skabent of technological
feasibility are charged to product development espe Product development expense includes pagrafhloyee benefits,
allocation of indirect costs such as rent, othexdeeunt-related costs associated with product dpwetnt and any related
costs to third parties under sub-contracting orofetny collaborative arrangements.

Software development costs are amortized on a ptdgjuproduct basis over the greater of the ratiouwrent revenues to
total anticipated revenues (current and future maes) or on a straight-line basis over the estichatgeful lives of the
products beginning with the initial release to oustrs. The Company’s estimated life for its cdjital software products
is two years based on current sales trends angthef product release. The Company continualgluates whether events
or circumstances had occurred that indicate thatrémaining useful life of the capitalized softwatevelopment costs
should be revised or that the remaining balanceurh assets may not be recoverable. The Compaalyates the
recoverability of capitalized software based onnbéerealizable value of each product, which inekithe estimated future
gross revenues from that product reduced by thmatgd future costs of completing and disposinthaf product, including
the costs of performing maintenance and customgpasti required to satisfy the Company’s resporisjbdlet forth at the
time of sale. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014agement believes that no revisions to the remgioseful lives or
write-downs of capitalized software developmentsegere required.

Research and Development Costs

The Company reports research and development essBroduct Development expense in its consolidatattment of
operations. These costs include the costs incuried to the establishment of technological fedisjbfor new product
development. In addition, research and developngests also include costs related to improving dgoelity of the
Company’s released software products and any daostisred by third party companies that may be eadagom time to
time, to assist the Company in its product develpnefforts that are not considered to be signifiemhancements to the
software products.

Goodwill

Part of the purchase price for the FieldCentrixetssacquired September 21, 2005, included the isiign of
goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of thechase price over the fair value of net assetsigsg]in connection with
business combinations accounted for using the pseemethod of accounting. Goodwill was not amadtizeut instead
goodwill was required to be tested for impairmembwally and more frequently if impairment indicaa@re present. The
Company performs such testing of goodwill on Octobeof each year, or as events occur or circumstmbhange that
would more likely than not reduce the fair valueaatporting unit below its carrying amount.

The Company conducts a two-step test for impairn@ngoodwill. The first step of the test for gootlwmpairment
compares the fair value of the applicable reporting with its carrying value. If the fair value afreporting unit is less than
the reporting unit's carrying value, the Company pérform the second step of the test for impamtre& goodwill. During
the second step of the test for impairment of galbdihe Company will compare the implied fair valwf the reporting
unit's goodwill with the carrying value of that ghwall. If the carrying value of the goodwill exceethe calculated implied
fair value, the excess amount will be recognizedragnpairment loss.
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During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company cletea the first step of the test for goodwill impaént. In addition, the
Company evaluated other business factors, includiagroeconomic conditions, the current businessremwent and

changes in the operations of the business uniteRey and expense forecasts used in the evaludtgoodwill were based
on trends of historical performance and managemm@stimate of future performance. During 2015,dtexd been a decline
in license, service, and maintenance revenuesaless$ of a few customers without any new customissa result, the
Company'’s expectations of future revenue and @iofity for FieldCentrix are declining compared fgeevious estimates
performed. Based upon the results of the firgi stethe test for goodwill impairment, the Compamncluded that the fair
value of the FieldCentrix reporting unit was lesart its carrying value as of December 31, 2015.

Because the step one test indicated that Field@sntarrying value exceeded its estimated faiueathe second step of the
goodwill impairment test was performed. Under skeond step, the fair value of all FieldCentrixeéssnd liabilities were
estimated, including tangible assets, existing ieldgy and trade names for the purpose of deri@ngestimate of the
implied fair value of goodwill. The implied fair ige of the goodwill was then compared to the reedrdoodwill to
determine the amount of the impairment. As a resuffoodwill impairment charge of $1,538,000 warded in operating
expenses in the fourth quarter of 2015.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjeceé tBompany to credit risk, consist of cash equiualeand accounts
receivable. The Company’s policy is to limit thm@unt of credit exposure to any one financial ingttn. The Company
places investments with financial institutions exséd as being creditworthy, or investing in sherth money market
which are exposed to minimal interest rate andicmésk. Cash balances are maintained with seveaalks. Certain
operating accounts may exceed the Federal Depasitdnce Corporation (FDIC) limits.

The Company sells its products to customers inwbivea variety of industries including informatieechnology, medical
devices and diagnostic systems, industrial confral$ instrumentation and retail systems througtieeitworld. While the
Company does not require collateral from its cugimnit does perform continuing credit evaluati@fists customers’
financial condition.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determivesed on differences between financial reportirdytar bases of assets and
liabilities and operating loss and tax credit cmyards and are measured using the enacted & aat laws that will be in
effect when the difference and carryforwards angeeted to be recovered or settled. A valuatioomalhce for deferred tax
assets is provided when we estimate that it is rikedy than not that all or a portion of the deéat tax assets may not be
realized through future operations. This assessimdiased upon consideration of available positind negative evidence
which included, among other things, our most recesitilts of operations and expected future pralitab We consider our
actual historical results to have a stronger wetigduh other more subjective indicators when comgsigavhether to establish or
reduce a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets

The Company prescribes a recognition threshold raedsurement attribute for the financial statemecbgnition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expectde ttaken in a tax return. Estimated interestésneed as a component of
interest expense and penalties are recorded ampooent of general and administrative expenses.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Athieg costs for the years ended December 31, 200562014 were
$393,000 and $353,000, respectively, and are iedun sales and marketing expenses.

Currency Translation

The accounts of the international subsidiaries brahch operations translate the assets and liabilif international
operations by using the exchange rate in effetheabalance sheet date. The results of operatienganslated at average
exchange rates during the period. The effects ofi@xge rate fluctuations in translating assetsliabdities of international
operations into U.S. dollars are accumulated afidcted as a currency translation adjustment asmaponent of other
comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidsiz#@ments of changes in stockholders’ equityigiief Transaction
gains and losses are included in general and asingitive expenses in the consolidated statementp@fations. General
and administrative expenses include exchange laffs$08,000 and $70,000 for the years ended Deeefb, 2015 and
2014, respectively.
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Loss Per Share

Loss per share is computed on the basis of the htezlgaverage number of shares and common stockadeuis
outstanding during the period. In the calculatirdiluted earnings per share, shares outstandiegdjusted to assume
conversion of the Company’s non-interest bearimgvedible stock and exercise of options as if theye dilutive. In the
calculation of basic loss per share, weighted ayeraimbers of shares outstanding are used as bendetor.

The Company had net loss allocable to the commaockkblders for the years ended December 31, 20d52844. All
options outstanding at December 31, 2015 and 20pdiichase shares of common stock and shares aheonorstock issued
on the assumed conversion of the eligible prefestedk were excluded from the diluted loss per comishare calculation
as the inclusion of these options and shares wuoaNg been antidilutive.

Years ended December 31, 2015 2014

Net loss $ (4,366,000) $  (3,447,000)
Preferred dividend 500,000 400,000
Net loss allocable available to common shareholders (4,866,000) (3,847,000)
Basic and diluted weighted average number of comshanes outstanding 3,587,000 3,587,000
Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (1.36) $ (1.07)

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of net loss, unrealiggds (losses) on investments available for satk fareign currency
translation adjustments. The effects are preseéntte accompanying consolidated statements opcenensive loss.

Stock Compensation

The Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtigranted using the Black-Scholes option-priciragleh and amortizes
the estimated option value using an acceleratedtaation method where each option grant is splib itranches based on
vesting periods. The Company’s expected term sgmits the period that the Company’s share-basediawee expected to
be outstanding and was determined based on hista@iqperience regarding similar awards, giving abrstion to the
contractual terms of the share-based awards antbgeeptermination data. Executive level employehe hold a majority
of options outstanding, and non-executive level legges each have similar historical option exer@sd termination
behavior and thus were grouped for valuation purposThe Company’s expected volatility is basedthmn historical
volatility of its traded common stock and placeslesgive reliance on historical volatilities to estite our stock volatility
over the expected term of its awards. The Compasyhistorically not paid common stock dividendie risk-free interest
rate is based on the yield from the U.S. Treasarg-zoupon bonds with an equivalent term.

Under the Company'’s stock option plans, option a@&ayenerally vest over a four-year period of cardirs service and
have a 10-year contractual term. The fair valueach option is amortized using an acceleratedriation method over
the option’s vesting period. The fair value of eaption is estimated on the date of the grantgugie Black-Scholes option
pricing model using the following assumptions:

For the year ended For the year ended

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Weighted Average Weighted Average
Risk-free interest rate 1.489 1.76%
Expected life (in years) 5.59 5.48
Volatility 90.93% 94.18%
Expected dividends - -
Annual forfeiture rate 23.38 23.71%

The weighted-average fair value of options gramtedng the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2@%4estimated as
$1.06 and $1.92, respectively.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, as part of its ongoing efforts to ssBi the convergence of U.S. GAAP and Internafiéii@ancial Reporting
Standards, the Financial Accounting Standards B{a#A®bB) issued a new standard related to revencegration. Under
the new standard, recognition of revenue occurawveheustomer obtains control of promised good®orices in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the ergitpects to receive in exchange for those goodemices. In addition, the
standard requires disclosure of the nature, amaiunityg, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flawsing from contracts
with customers. The new standard will be effecfimeus beginning January 1, 2018. Early adopt®opdrmitted only as of
annual reporting periods beginning after Decemtser2016. We anticipate this standard may have &nmahimpact on our
consolidated financial statements, and we are gthyrevaluating its impact.

In August 2014, FASB issued Preparation of Findn8tatements - Going Concern, Disclosure of Unatiess about an
Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern.dgn GAAP, continuation of a reporting entity as @ng concern is
presumed as the basis for preparing financial mi@és unless and until the entity's liquidation dmees imminent.
Preparation of financial statements under thisyprggion is commonly referred to as the going comdssis of accounting.
If and when an entity's liquidation becomes imminénancial statements should be prepared undelidhidation basis of
accounting in accordance with Presentation of RirsrStatements — Liquidation Basis of Accountinfven when an
entity's liquidation is not imminent, there may dmnditions or events that raise substantial dobbtiaithe entity's ability to
continue as a going concern. In those situatidnantial statements should continue to be prepanel@r the going concern
basis of accounting, but the amendments in thisatgpdhould be followed to determine whether told&e information
about the relevant conditions and events. The aments in this update are effective for us on Jandar2017. Early
application is permitted. The Company will evaluélte going concern considerations, however, atcilmeent period,
management does not believe that it has met conditivhich would subject these financial statemdotsadditional
disclosure. We anticipate this update will not haveaterial impact on our consolidated financiatesnents.

In November 2015, the FASB issued Income Taxesa®a Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, whkiafplifies the
presentation of deferred income taxes by requideferred tax assets and liabilities be classifisdhancurrent on the
balance sheet. The updated standard is effectivasfdoeginning on January 1, 2017 with early apfiie permitted as of
the beginning of any interim or annual reportingipe We anticipate that this standard will not @a material impact on
our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB completed its Leasepptdy issuing Accounting Standards Update No.6202LeasesThe
updated guidance establishes the principles torré@msparent and economically neutral informatdaout the assets and
liabilities that arise from leases. The updateidiguce:

» Results in a more faithful representation of thghts and obligations arising from leases by reqgifessees to
recognize the lease assets and lease liabilitetsatise from leases in the statement of finangaaition and to
disclose qualitative and quantitative informatidsoat lease transactions, such as information abadble lease
payments and options to renew and terminate leases,

» Results in fewer opportunities for organizationstaicture leasing transactions to achieve a peatiaccounting
outcome on the statement of financial position,

» Improves understanding and comparability of lessigasncial commitments regardless of the manneyytbhoose
to finance the assets used in their businesses,

» Aligns lessor accounting and sale and leasebacisdrdions guidance more closely to comparable gu&lan
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and Othemheg

e Provides users of financial statements with add#fionformation about lessors’ leasing activitiasd dessors’
exposure to credit and asset risk as a resuliasfrig, and

» Clarifies the definition of a lease to address ficadssues that were raised about the previousitieh of a lease
and to align the concept of control, as it is uigethe definition of a lease, more closely with ttentrol principle in
Consolidation.

The updated guidance is effective for us begindenguary 1, 2019. Early adoption of the updatesisnfited. The Company
is evaluating the impact of this updated guidantéconsolidated financial statements and reldisdosures.

3. Accounts Receivable

Billed accounts receivable represent billings foe Company’s products and services to end usersalnd added resellers.
Unbilled accounts receivable represent contracamabunts due within one year under software licertkas have been
delivered or statements of work for professionabises, for work performed but not yet invoicedill&l accounts
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receivable are shown net of reserves for estimaedllectible amounts. Accounts receivable nellmwance for doubtful
accounts consist of the following:

December 31,

2015 2014
Billed accounts receivable, net $ 5,116,000 3%68,000
Unbilled accounts receivable 481,000 516,000

$ 559000 $ 4,084,000

4, Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of:
December 31,

Useful Life (Years) 2015 2014
Computers and related equipment 3 $ 4,471,000 4,381,000
Furniture and fixtures 10 606,000 606,000
Leasehold improvements The lesser of lease
term or 10 476,000 476,000
Software 3 1,077,000 1,069,000
Office equipment 3-7 811,000 807,000
7,441,000 7,339,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation
and amortization (7,268,000) (7,163,000)

$ 173,000 $ 176,000

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaed December 32015 and 2014 was $105,000 and $198,000,
respectively.

5. Capitalized Software Development Costs

Capitalized software development costs consist of:

Remaining Weighted December 31,
Average Life 2015 2014
Capitalized software development costs 16.8 months $ 26,289,000 $23,882,000
Less: Accumulated amortization (22,908,000) (19,185,000)
$ 3,381,000 $ 4,697,000

The Company capitalized software development aafs$2,407,000 and $2,532,000 for the years endestiber 31, 2015
and 2014, respectively. Amortization of capitatiznftware development costs for the years endegbkeer 31, 2015 and
2014 was $3,723,000 and $3,502,000, respectively,is reflected in cost of software license feeghea consolidated
statements of operations. The Company amortizeésvaa developments costs using the greater of tiaggkt-line basis

over the estimated useful lives of the product (ywars) or the revenue forecast method.

6. Intangible Asset
Customer lists (“intangible asset”) acquired ast pdrthe FieldCentrix acquisition were amortizedepb\their estimated

annual life or over the period of its expected Hignehich was 10 years. Amortization expense teglato this intangible
asset was $96,000 for the year ended Decembe025,ahd $136,000 for the year ended December 34.20

Accumulated Amortization Net Carrying Value
Weighted
Description Avg. Life Gross Cost 2015 2014 2015 2014
Customer List 10 years $1,360,000 $1,360,000 $1,264,000 - $96,000
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7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of:

December 31, 2015 2014
Accounts payable $ 944000 $ 607,000
Accrued compensation and related benefits 1,161,000 1,006,000
Sales and payroll taxes payable 259,000 258,000
Preferred dividend payable 110,000 110,000
Income tax payable 7,000 68,000
Third party software costs payable 14,000 31,000
Accrued professional services 30,000 20,000
Accrued interest expense 6,000 1,000
Other accrued liabilities 49,000 29,000

$ 2,580,000 $ 2,130,000

8. Lines of Credit

Line of Credit from Director/ Officer-Related Party Transaction

On May 29, 2013, the Company entered into a Remgltioan Agreement and associated Revolving Promyissiote
(collectively the “Loan Documents”) with Zack Beegn, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Punsua the Loan
Documents, Mr. Bergreen provided an unsecured $2000 revolving line of credit to the Company (tflane of
Credit”). Amounts outstanding under the Line ofedit bore interest at a rate of 7% per annum, withrest payable
monthly. The original maturity date of the Line Gfedit was May 29, 2015. The Company was peedito pay all
amounts outstanding and terminate the Loan Docwsmenbr to that time without any penalties. TheahoDocuments
contained customary covenants, default and otharigions. The Loan Documents were negotiated gqumioaed by the
Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of DirectorBorrowings under the Line of Credit were subjecthe Audit
Committee’s approval. On March 27, 2014, the Camyp amended its original Loan Documents with Mr.
Bergreen. Pursuant to the amended Loan DocumiéntBergreen provided an additional $1,000,000 oneed revolving
line of credit to the Company to increase the tatalilable line of credit to $3,000,000. No ottenms or conditions to the
original agreement were changed. On June 20, 28&4Company converted $2,000,000 of outstandiimgipal owed to
Mr. Bergreen under the Loan Documents into 797 gitd¥es of Series B Preferred Stock (see Note [h2addition, during
the second quarter of 2014, the Company repaid ,$2800f borrowings under the line of credit to Bergreen. On May
28, 2015, the Company amended the original loapeagent maturity date to be October 1, 2015 and maxi principal
amount to $150,000. On October 1, 2015, the lineretlit matured and there was no remaining balandee Company
incurred $10,000 and $81,000 of interest expensthisnline of credit for the years ended Decemhbkr 215 and 2014,
respectively.

Line of Credit from Silicon Valley Bank

On June 13, 2014, the Company entered into a LodrSacurity Agreement with SVB (the “Prior Loan &gment”). The
Prior Loan Agreement established a revolving créatitlity for the Company in the principal amourftup to $3,000,000
(the “Prior Revolving Facility”). Availability undr the Prior Revolving Facility was tied to a bavieg base formula that
was based on 80% of the Company’s eligible accowgmsivable. Advances under the Prior RevolvingilFa could have
been repaid and reborrowed in accordance with tier Poan Agreement. No advances were made atingosf the
loan. Pursuant to the Prior Loan Agreement, the m agreed to pay SVB the outstanding principabuar of all
borrowings, the unpaid interest thereon, and &iéobbligations incurred with respect to the Ptioan Agreement on June
13, 2016.

On December 18, 2014, the Company and SVB amendedestated the Prior Loan Agreement to reduceatitregate
borrowing amount and revise certain other termthefPrior Loan Agreement and the Prior Revolvingilfg (the “Loan
Agreement”).

The Loan Agreement established a new revolvingitfadility for the Company in the principal amouwftup to $2,000,000

(the “Revolving Facility”). Availability under th&evolving Facility is tied to a borrowing baserfara that is based on
80% of the Company'’s eligible domestic accounteirable. Advances under the Revolving Facilitye(thdvances”) may
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be repaid and reborrowed in accordance with thenlAgreement. No advances were made at closingsuBat to the Loan
Agreement, the Company agreed to pay to SVB thstanding principal amount of all Advances, the udpaterest
thereon, and all other obligations incurred witbpect to the Loan Agreement on December 18, 2Qitérest, which is
payable monthly, accrues on the unpaid principkrz of the Advances at a floating per annumegteal to the greater of:
() 2.25% above the prime rate (which may be reduoe2.00% above the prime rate for every montihiich the Company
maintains an “adjusted quick ratio” of at leastt1j or (ii) 5.25%; provided, that the minimum irédst amount due per
month shall not be less than $2,000.

On January 14, 2016, the Company and SVB amendeédestated the Loan Agreement to extend the mwtdéte of the
credit facility through April 2018 and revised aoldrified certain covenants and other terms of dtelit facility ("Loan
Modification Agreement").

If the Company is not in compliance with the terofsthe Loan Modification Agreement at the end of anonth, all

outstanding advances plus accrued interest are diiatedy due and payable. Provided that no eventefdult exists, SVB
may, in its good faith business discretion, refo®mhe outstanding borrowings with Advances basedpecific eligible

accounts. During an event of default, the ratentdrest would increase 5% above the otherwisei@pé rate, until such
event of default is cured or waived.

Subject to certain exceptions, the Loan Agreementains covenants prohibiting the Company from, agnother things:

(a) conveying, selling, leasing, transferring drnasivise disposing of their properties or assetsligoidating or dissolving;

(c) engaging in any business other than the busicesently engaged in or reasonably related tbefd) entering into any
merger or consolidation, or acquiring all or suhstdly all of the capital stock or property of daher entity; (e) becoming
liable for any indebtedness; (f) allowing any lienencumbrance on any of their property; and (glimpany dividends

(other than dividends on outstanding convertibkfgrred stock); and (i) making payment on subotdith@ebt. Further, the
Company must maintain a minimum “adjusted quicloratested as of the last day of each month, déast 1.25:1.00. The
adjusted quick ratio is the ratio of (a) the Compsiconsolidated, unrestricted cash plus net bo@ambunts receivable to
(b) the Company’s liabilities to SVB plus, withadiplication, the aggregate amount of the Compalmtslities that mature

within 1 year, minus the current portion of defdrrevenue.

The Revolving Facility is secured by a first prigrperfected security interest in substantially @flthe assets of the
Company, excluding the intellectual property of t@@mpany. The Loan Agreement contains a negatweer@ant
prohibiting the Company from granting a securitienest in their intellectual property to any party.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 the Company ovig878,000 and $1,004,000, respectively, againstRireolving
Facility. The Company incurred $150,000 and $40,6Dinterest expense to SVB for the years endezkbber 31, 2015
and 2014, respectively. As of December 31, 2016 atrailability under the line of credit was $62&0The Company was
in compliance with the covenants of the Loan Agreetras of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

9. Income Taxes

The Company has identified its federal tax retund &s state returns in Pennsylvania and Califosa“major” tax

jurisdictions. Based on the Company'’s evaluatibhas been concluded that there are no signifisanertain tax positions
requiring recognition in the Company’s financiatsiments. The Company’s evaluation was perforroetak years ended
2012 through 2015, the only periods subject to émation. The Company believes that its income tasifpns and

deductions will be sustained on a tax authorityitaadd does not anticipate any adjustments thdtredlult in a material
change to its financial position.

The Company'’s policy for recording interest and giees associated with audits is to record suamstas a component of
income before income taxes. Penalties are recardgdneral and administrative expenses and irtgiad or received is
recorded in interest expense or interest inconspedively, in the consolidated statement of opemat For the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, there were no intergsnalties related to uncertain tax positions.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent theré tax consequences of the differences betweefiiriancial statement
carrying amounts for assets and liabilities vetbestax bases of assets and liabilities. Undsrrtiéthod, deferred tax assets
are recognized for deductible temporary differenaggerating loss and tax credit carryforwards. dbefd liabilities are
recognized for taxable temporary differences. Befbtax assets are reduced by a valuation allogvaien, in the opinion
of management, it is more likely than not that sqrogion or all of the deferred tax assets will betrealized. The impact
of tax rate changes on deferred tax assets anitltieabis recognized in the year that the chargenacted. The provision
(benefit) for income taxes is as follows:
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Years ended December 31, 2015 2014
Current:
Federal $ 2,000 $ -
State - -
Foreign 32,000 25,00(
34,000 25,00(
Deferred:
Federal $ (251,000 $ 37,000
State (103,000 (7,000)
Foreign 9,00( 6,00(
$ (311,000 $ 61,00(

Pre-tax loss for domestic locations for the yeardeel December 31, 2015 and 2014 was ($2,898,0@D)$%8;079,000),
respectively. Foreign locations had pre-tax Idg$b,779,000) and ($307,000) in 2015 and 2014eaetvely.

The approximate income tax effect of each typeeoforary difference is as follows:

December 31, 2015 2014
Deferred tax assets:
Timing of revenue recognition $ 1,221,000 1,010,000
Accruals and reserves not currently deducfimdax 67,000 94,000
Domestic net operating loss carryforwards 12,869,000 12,906,000
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards 3,365,000 3,038,000
Depreciation and amortization 215,000 265,000
Alternative minimum tax 363,000 361,000
Non-qualified stock options 282,000 235,000
Other 223,000 24,000
Total deferred tax assets 18,605,000 17,933,000
Deferred tax liabilities:
Capitalized software development costs (1,305,000) (1,814,000)
Amortization of deductible goodwiill - (354,000
Israel deferred tax liability (29,000) (20,00p
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,334,000) (2,188,000)
Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance 17,27100C 15,745,000

Valuation allowance

(17,300,000)

(16,119,000)

Net deferred tax liabilities $

(29,000)

(374,000)

Realization of deferred tax assets is primarily etefent on future taxable income, the amount anéhdirof which is
uncertain. The valuation allowance is adjuste@ @eriodic basis to reflect management’s estimbteeorealizable value of
the net deferred tax assets. A valuation allowdras been recorded for the net deferred tax fasall jurisdictions with
the exception of a $29,000 deferred tax liabilégarded for the Company’s subsidiary located iadkr

Taxable income for the Israeli subsidiary was $86@,and $278,000 for the years ended December@®H and 2014,
respectively. The Israeli subsidiary has a tawision of $41,000 and $31,000 for the years endedeihber 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively.

As of December 31, 2015, the Company had net dpgriatss carryforwards for United States federabme tax purposes of
approximately$30,140,000. Included in the aggregate net opgrddss carryforward is $8,900,000 of tax dedusticated to
equity transactions, the benefit of which will beedited to stockholders’ equity, if and when readizafter the other tax
deductions in the carryforwards have been realizhd.net operating loss carryforwards expire betvgg49 through 2034.
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The Company does not provide for federal incomeegasr tax benefits on the undistributed earningdosses of its
international subsidiaries because earnings an@esied and, in the opinion of management, willticae to be reinvested
indefinitely. At December 31, 2015, the Company bt provided federal income taxes on cumulatigeniegs of

individual international subsidiaries. Should the=@nings be distributed in the form of dividends atherwise, the
Company would be subject to both U.S. income taaed withholding taxes in various international gdictions.

Determination of the related amount of unrecognideterred U.S. income tax liability is not practitm because of the
complexities associated with its hypothetical ciltan. As noted above, the Company has significeat operating loss
carryforwards for U.S. federal income taxes purppséhich are available to offset the potential liakility if the earnings

were to be distributed.

The extent to which the loss carryforward can edue offset future taxable income and tax lialeiif respectively, may be
limited, depending on the extent of ownership cleangithin any three-year period.

The effective tax rate differed from the statutbryg. federal income tax rate as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2015 2014

Pre-tax book income 34.0% 34.0%
State taxes 1.5% 0.1%
Permanent differences (99 (1.0%)
Difference between statutory and foreign rates %3.0 0.6%
Change in foreign tax rate - (4.0%)
Other 0.5% 0.3%
Valuation allowance (25.4%) (31.€%)

6.7% (1.8%)

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases facilities and equipment undeicancelable operating leases which may includal@&son clauses. Rent
expense for facility leases for the years endedeBer 31, 2015 and 2014 was $935,000 and $1,011660ectively.
Equipment and vehicle lease expense for the yededeDecember 31, 2015 and 2014 was $163,000 206D, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under the Compaegselk as of December 31, 2015 are as follows:

Operating Leases

2016 $1,102,000
2017 474,000
2018 85,000
2019 13,000

Litigation

From time to time, the Company may be involved énta@in legal actions and customer disputes ariginthe ordinary
course of business. In the Company’s opinion, tligame of such actions will not have a materialead® effect on the
Company’s financial position, results of operationgash flows.

11. Profit Sharing Plan/Savings Plan

The Company maintains a discretionary profit stlganahan, including a voluntary Section 401(k) featucovering all

qualified and eligible employees. Company contiidng to the profit sharing plan are determinedhat discretion of the
Board of Directors. The Company may match 25%ligftde employees’ contributions to the 401(k) plamto a maximum
of 1.5% of each employee’s compensation. It wasrd@hed by the Board of Directors that there wdadda match in 2015
and 2014. The Company elected to match 25% of &D%ompensation for each eligible employee’s cbntibns to the

401(k) plans in 2015 and 2014 for a total matc#3,000 and $76,000, respectively.
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12. Equity Plans
Share-Based Awards

Compensation costs in 2015 and 2014 include conapienscosts for share-based payments granted tdogegs and
directors based on the estimated grant date fhieva

As of December 31, 2015, the total unrecognizedpmnsation cost related to non-vested options amedutat $184,000,
which is expected to be recognized over the optimmaining vesting periods of 2.48 years. No meotax benefit was
realized by the Company in the years ended Decerdber015 and 2014 as the Company maintains avélllation
allowance on its net deferred tax asset.

The Company has Stock Option Plans (the “Planseumvhich incentive and non-qualified stock optiomsy be granted to
its employees, officers, directors and others. @Gdlyg incentive stock options are granted at failue, become exercisable
over a four-year period, and are subject to theleyeg’'s continued employment. Non-qualified optiare granted at
exercise prices determined by the Board of Directmd vest over varying periods. A summary of stetus of the
Company’s stock options as of December 31, 2013284d and changes during the years then ended dodaws:

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
Wtd. Avg. Exercise Wtd. Avg. Exercise
Shares Price Per Share Shares Price Per Share
Balance, December 31, 2013 666,000 3P2 482,000 $ 4.23
Granted 120,000 2.61
Forfeited (91,000) 3.0t
Exercised - -
Expired (6000) 8.0(
Balance, December 31, 2014 GBN $ 3.7¢ 515,000 $ 4.10
Granted 146,000 1.47
Forfeited (43,000) 3.0¢
Exercised - -
Expired (54000) 7.57
Balance, December 31, 2015 738,000 $ 30€ 486,000 $ 3.59

There are 240,000 shares available for grantingrédubptions as of December 31, 2015. It is the gay’'s policy to issue
shares from authorized but unissued common sto@nwtock options are exercised.

The following table summarizes outstanding optitired are vested and expected to vest under the &uwyigpstock option
plans as of December 31, 2015:

Weighted Average

Weighted Average Remaining
Number of Exercise Price Contractual Term Aggregate
Shares Per Share (in years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding Options 738,000 $3.06 5.58 $127,000
Vested and Expected to Vest 663,000 $3.19 5.20 0984,
Options Exercisable 486,000 $3.59 3.96 $2,000
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The following table shows total share-based comgut#ams expense included in the consolidated stateofesperations:

Year Ended
December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Cost of subscriptions, services and maintenance 7900 $ 27,000
Product development 1,000 3,000
Sales and marketing 1,000 -
General and administrative 132,000 126,000
Pre-tax share-based compensation 141,000 156,000
Income tax benefit - -
Stock-based compensation expense, net $ 141,000 1565000

Convertible Preferred Stock
Series A

On September 24, 2008, the Company issued 826/@)@sof Series-A Convertible Preferred Stock ([{eA Preferred
Stock”) to its Chief Executive Officer at a price%8.63 per share for a total of $3,000,000. Dewids accrue daily on the
Series A Preferred Stock at a rate of 10% and ayalpe only when, and if, declared by the CompaBgard of Directors,
quarterly in arrears. The Company reported $300i00®eries-A Preferred Stock dividends for the gemmded December
31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The Series A Preferred Stock may be converteddotomon stock at the rate of one share of commoredch share of
Series A Preferred Stock. Since September 200 Company has had certain rights to cause cowoveri all of the

shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstandingceSiSeptember 2012, the Company may redeem, sulgjelcbard

approval, all of the shares of Series A PreferramtiSthen outstanding at a price equal to the greatt (i) 130% of the
purchase price plus all accrued and unpaid divideard (i) the fair market value of such numbeisbéres of common
stock which the holder of the Series A Preferreactwould be entitled to receive had the redeensrie$ A Preferred
Stock been converted immediately prior to the rgat@n. In the event of a liquidation of the Compathe holder of the
Series A and (Series B) Preferred Stock shall liglezhto receive in preference to the holdershef tommon stock, the
original amount invested in the Preferred Stocksny unpaid and accrued dividends. Preferred sloddends on the
Series A are declared quarterly by the Board oé®aors. At December 31, 2015, there was an acdaivédend payable of
$75,000.

The Company reports the Series A Preferred StockhenCompany’s consolidated balance sheet withickéiolders’
equity.

SeriesB

On June 20, 2014, the Company issued 797,000 adsSBrConvertible Preferred Stock (“Series B PmefgrStock”) to its
Chief Executive Officer at a price of $2.51 perrghim exchange for the cancellation of $2,000,000utstanding principal
owed to its Chief Executive Officer under a RevotyiPromissory Note dated March 26, 2014 (See NpteT8e Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors of the Compapproved the transaction.

The per share price was determined as the grek{@rtbe average closing bid price of a sharehaf Company’s common
stock reported by Nasdaq for the 30 trading dayngntwo trading days prior to the date of the & Preferred Stock
agreement and (ii) 10% above the closing bid poicthe Company’s common stock on the date of théeS& Preferred
Stock agreement. Accordingly, the per share pwes set at $2.51 (“Purchase Price”), correspontinfj0% above the
closing bid price on June 20, 2014. Pursuant ¢éoténms of the Series B Preferred Stock agreentiemtCompany also
granted its Chief Executive Officer registratioghis in the event the Company elects to file astegfion statement with the
Securities and Exchange Commission relating to féering of its equity securities under the SecastiAct of 1933, as
amended.

The Series B Preferred Stock may be convertedsimoes of common stock on a one-to-one ratio, sutgecustomary anti-
dilution provisions. The Series B Preferred Stadk pay a quarterly dividend, which will accrue ah annual rate of 7%,
subject to certain rate adjustments as providedufmer the agreement, until June 20, 2016 and ananal rate of 10%
thereafter. The Company’s Chief Executive Officesty convert 100% of his shares of the Series Belhed Stock into
shares of common stock. Following June 20, 2046hend every then outstanding share of SerieseBefPed Stock is
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subject to mandatory and automatic conversion $fi@ares of common stock if the closing price of ¢benmon stock as
reported by the principal exchange or quotatioriesyson which such common stock is traded or redaogteeeds 300% of
the then current conversion price for 30 conseeutiading days. The Company may redeem all obthstanding shares of
the Series B Preferred Stock issued at a pricesipare equal to 300% of the purchase price. ThiesSBrPreferred Stock
ranks senior to the Common Stock and on parity wiehCompany’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stbckhe event of a
liquidation of the Company, the holder of the Seri® and (Series A) Preferred Stock shall be edtitte receive in

preference to the holders of the common stock,ottfiginal amount invested in the preferred stocksgny unpaid and
accrued dividends. Preferred stock dividends enSéries B are declared quarterly by the Boardifdibrs. At December
31, 2015, there were accrued dividends of $35,000.

The Company reports the Series B Preferred Stodck@Company’s consolidated balance sheet witluicksolders’ equity

at the amount of net proceeds received less ant@dpividend cost. The imputed dividend cost of D00 was the result
of the preferred stock having a dividend rate duytime first two years after its issuance (7%) thdbwer than the rate that
becomes fixed (10%) after the initial two-year pdriThe imputed dividend cost of $110,000 is beingprtized over the
first two years from the date of issuance and setlaipon the present value of the dividend discosinty a 10% yield. The
Company amortized $60,000 and $30,000 relatedetantiputed dividend cost for the years ended Dece®bge2015 and

2014, respectively. The Company reported $140,0@0$70,000 in Series-B Preferred Stock dividendgHe years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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13. Geographic Segment Data

The Company and its subsidiaries are engaged idekign, development, marketing and support cfdtsice management
software solutions. Substantially all revenueaultefom the license of the Company’s software preid and related
professional services and customer support servidé®e Company’s chief executive officer reviewsaficial information
presented on a consolidated basis, accompaniedshggtegated information about revenues by geogramgion for
purposes of making operating decisions and asggfis@ncial performance. Accordingly, the Compawmynsiders itself to

have three reporting segments as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2015 2014
Revenues
Software license fees
United States $ 3,23700C $ 1,902,000
Total United States softwarelfise fees 3,23700C 1,902,000
Europe 1,30300C 1,102,000
Asia/Pacific 460,00( 353,000
Total foreign software license$ 1,76300(C 1,455,000
Total software license fees 5,00Q00C 3,357,000
Subscriptions
United States 732,00C 617,000
Total United States subscripgion 732,00( 617,000
Europe 28,00( -
Asia/Pacific 32200C 173,000
Total foreign subscriptions 350,00( 173,000
Total subscriptions 1,08200( 790,000
Services and maintenance
United States 10,97500C 10,319,000
Total United States sersia®d maintenance revenue 10,97500C 10,319,000
Europe 2,83200C 3,325,000
Asia/Pacific 3,06800C 2,943,000
Total foreign services and n&mance revenue 5,90Q00( 6,268,000
Total services and mainte@arevenue 16,87500C 16,587,000
Total revenue $ 22,95700C 20,734,000
Net loss
United States $ (2,517000) (1,837,000)
Europe (1,746000 (289,000)
Asia/Pacific (103000) (1,321,000)
Net loss $ (4,366000) (3,447,000)
Long lived assets
United States $ 3,58900C 6,507,000
Europe 11800C 146,000
Asia/Pacific 73,00 78,000
Total long-lived assets $  3,78Q00C 6,731,000
Total assets
United States $ 8,40500( 9,503,000
Europe 1,691,00C 1,610,000
Asia/Pacific 1,32500C 1,552,000
Total assets $ 11,42100C 12,665,000
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14. Selected Consolidated Quarterly Financial Da (Unaudited)

2015 Quarter Ended Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31,
Revenues $ 5,330,000 $ 5,228,000 $ 6,539,000% 5,860,000
Gross profit 1,397,000 877,000 1,913,000 1,658,000
Net loss (1,985,000) (1,315,000) (273,000) (793000)
Net loss allocable to common shareholders (20010 (1,440,000) (39800 (918000)
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (059) $ (0.40% 0.11) $ (0.26)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted

net loss per share (in thousands) 3,587 3,587 3,587 3,587
2014 Quarter Ended Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31,
Revenues $ 5,483,000 $ 5,115,000 $ 5,297,000 4,839,000
Gross profit 1,559,000 1,317,000 1,661,000 986,000
Net loss (639,000) (7990C) (752,000) (1,261,000)
Net loss allocable to common shareholders (764,000 (920,000) (827,000) (1,336000)
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.21) $ (0.26% 023 % (0.37)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted

net loss per share (in thousands) 3,587 3,587 3,587 3,587

15. Subsequent Event

On January 14, 2016, the Company and SVB amende#destated the Loan Agreement to extend the mwatdéte of the
credit facility through April 2018 and revised agldrified certain covenants and other terms ofctieglit facility.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Account&on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our ggatexecutive officer and our principal finanoidficer, evaluated, as of the
end of the period covered by this Form 10-K, thsigie adequacy and operating effectiveness of amladiure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and B%s)}-Linder the Exchange Act). Based on that evatyapur principal
executive officer and principal financial officeorcluded that our disclosure controls and procedase of such date are
effective at the reasonable assurance level inrgsthat information required to be disclosed byiruthe reports that we file
or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended (the Exchange Act), is recorded, gsede summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in tlee@ities Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.d3elosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controlglgarocedures that are designed to reasonably abstrimformation required
to be disclosed by us in the reports we file ornsiihunder the Exchange Act is accumulated and comcated to our
management, including our principal executive effiand principal financial officer, as appropritdeallow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing mathtaining an adequate system of internal cortrar financial
reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Awglef 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervisiod with the
participation of our management, including our pifal executive officer and principal financial ic#r, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internaltogirover financial reporting, based on the framdwia the Internal Control
- Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Conemittf Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cimsion (“COSO
2013%).

Our system of internal control over financial refpay is designed to provide reasonable assuramzgding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of finahsimatements for external purposes in accordantfe agicounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S.
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Our internal control over financial reporting indks those policies and procedures that:

* pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaralsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thengactions and
dispositions of our assets;

» provide reasonable assurance that our transactiensecorded as necessary to permit the preparationr
financial statements in accordance with accounfirigciples generally accepted in the U.S., and that
receipts and expenditures are being made onlyéordance with authorizations of our managementand
directors; and

» provide reasonable assurance regarding the prewveatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or
disposition of our assets that could have a mateffiact on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system dérimal controls over financial reporting can previdnly reasonable
assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatentamther, because of changes in conditionsctfness of internal
controls over financial reporting may vary overdinOur system contains self-monitoring mechanismd,actions are taken
to correct deficiencies as they are found.

Our management conducted an evaluation of theteffeess of the system of internal control oveaficial reporting based
on the framework in the 2013 Internal Control-Imtggd Framework issued by the Committee of Spongd@irganizations
of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaloator management concluded that our system afnateontrols over
financial reporting was effective as of DecemberZ115.

This Form 10-K does not include an attestation repbour registered public accounting firm regaglinternal control over
financial reporting as the rules of the Securitied Exchange Commission applicable to the Compamotirequire such an
attestation report and permit us to provide onlyagement’s report in this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reportng

There have been no changes in our internal cootret financial reporting during the fourth quaresrded December 31,
2015 that materially affected, or are reasonabityi to materially affect, our internal control avfamancial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None

PART IlI
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprate Governance.

Certain information required by Part 11l is omittidm this Report in that the Company will file afthitive proxy statement
within 120 days after the end of the Company’sdigear pursuant to Regulation 14A (the “Proxy &tant”) for its 2016
Annual Meeting of Stockholders proposed to be loeldune 22, 2016, and the information thereindsriporated herein by
reference.

The information in the Proxy Statement set fortdemthe captions‘Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers,” “Sion
16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting ComplianceThé Board of Directors Leadership Structure andCidenmittees—
Code of Conduct and Ethics,” “The Board of Direstbeadership Structure and Its Committees—Nomigadimd Corporate
Governance Committee” and “The Board of Directoeadership Structurand Its Committees—Audit Committee” is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Executive Severance Agreements

The information in the Proxy Statement set forttdemthe captions “Compensation Discussion and Asisilyand
“Compensation and Other Information Concerning €lives and Officers” of the Proxy Statement, is npawated herein by
reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficibOwners and Management and Related Stockholder M#trs.

The information set forth under the caption “Setyudwnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Maragnt” of the
Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by refererf8ee “Securities Authorized for Issuance UndeanifgqgCompensation
Plans” under Part Il, Item 5.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Traractions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item is incorp@by reference from the Proxy Statement or amenttog¢he Form 10-K
under the captions “Certain Relationships and Rdldransactions” and “The Board of Directors Leabgr Structure and
its Committees.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is incorpeciby reference from the Proxy Statement undeh#aling “Principal
Accountant Fees and Services.”
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Item 15.

PART IV

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedak.

@)(1)(A)
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
Vi)
(a)(1)(B)
@2

a)

CVE©)

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 20d2014.

Consolidated Statements of Operations for thary ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive LasgHe years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stoclkdmsldquity for the years ended December 31, 2015
and 2014.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for tle@syended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.
Schedules.
Schedule 1l - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

The schedule listed above has been omitted betlaeseformation required to be set forth therein is
not applicable or is shown in the accompanying il Statements or notes thereto.

List of Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed as part of andongorated by reference into this Annual Report om#10-K:

Exhibit No.

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1

10.1#

10.2#

10.3#

10.4#

10.5#

10.6#

10.7#

10.8#

Description

Certificate of Incorporation of the Companyc@rporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 # th
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, anded (File No. 33-92778)).

By-Laws of the Company (Incorporated hereinddfgrence to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amendeg il 33-92778)).

Certificate of Designation of Series A Con\adiPreferred Stock (Incorporated herein by refezen
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’'s Current Report on F@&ak filed September 26, 2008).

Certificate of Designation of Series B Conu®etiPreferred Stock (Incorporated herein by refesen
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed anel 24, 2014).

Specimen certificate representing the Common Stioclorporated herein by Reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form & hmended (File No. 33-92778)).

Amended and Restated 1995 Non-Employee Dir&tbck Option Plan  (Incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Annuep&t on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 1997 filed on March 30, 1998).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreementler the 1995 Non-Employee Director Stock Option
Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhitttd the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-8, filed on September 19, 1995 (File No. 33-97n64

1997 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated hergireference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Arnua
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Deoen31, 1996 filed on March 31, 1997).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreementler the 1997 Stock Option Plan. (Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the ComfmAynual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1996 filed on March 31, 1997).

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement urtte 1997 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated hergin b
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’'s AnriR@port on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1996 filed on March 31, 1997).

1998 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated hergireference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Arnua
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decembef 837 filed on March 30, 1998).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreementler the 1998 Stock Option Plan. (Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Com{mAynnual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1997 filed on March 30, 1998).

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement urttle 1998 Stock Option Plan. (Incorporated hebgin
reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s AnriR@port on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1997 filed on March 30, 1998).
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10.9#

10.10#

10. 11

10.12#

10.13#

10.14#

10.15#

10.16#

10.17#

10.18

10.19

10.20

21.1*
23.1*
23.2*
24.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*

32.2*

* Filed herewith.

2001 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated hergireference to Exhibit B to the Company’s Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed July 5, 2001).

Form of Severance Agreement, dated ApriR088, between Astea International Inc. and cexfits
officers. (Incorporated herein by reference toGuenpany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2007 filed on April 15, 2008)

Schedule of Differences

Each Severance Agreement executed with the execofiicers listed below is substantially the same
as the form of each other:

Officers _Title

Zack Bergreen Chief Executive Officer

Fredric Etskovitz Chief Financial Officer and Trass
John Tobin President

Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement by amekba Astea International Inc. and Zack Bergreatgd
September 24, 2008 (Incorporated herein by refereém&xhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed September 26, 2008).

Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option(Rlearporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.1he
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Ju6e2010).

Form of Incentive Stock Option under Amended Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Comparurrent Report on Form 8-K filed June 16, 2010).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Options underekded and Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.th#®Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 16,
2010).

Revolving Loan Agreement betweeteAsnternational Inc. and Zack Bergreen dated 25y2013
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
June 4, 2013).

Amendment No.ldated March 26, 201Revolving Loan Agreement between Astea Inteometii Inc.
and Zack Bergreen dated May 29, 2013 (Incorporagezdin by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yaadedd December 31, 2013 filed on March 31,
2014).

Revolving Promissory Note betwesteA international Inc., as borrower, and Zack Bemg, as
lender, dated May 29 (Incorporated herein by refegdo Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembelB13 filed on March 31, 2014).

Loan and Security Agreement by and amongaAsternational Inc., Network Data, Inc., Virtual
Service Corporation, FC Acquisition Corp., andc®ifi Valley Bank dated June 13, 2014 (Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Comparurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on June 16,
2014).

Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement by ameebatthe Astea International Inc. and Zack Bergreen
dated June 20, 2014 (Incorporated herein by referemExhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2014).

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreeby and among Astea International Inc., Network
Data, Inc., Virtual Service Corporation, FC Acqtiami Corp., and Silicon Valley Bank dated as of
December 18, 2014 (Incorporated herein by referemé&xhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on December 29, 2014).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of EisnerAmper LLP.

Consent of Grant Thornton, LLP.

Powers of Attorney (See the Signature Page).

Certification pursuant to Section 302 of Berbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 —Chief Executive Officer
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of 8erbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 — Chief Financial Office
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti@Q, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBash
Oxley Act of 2002 —Chief Executive Officer.

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti@Q, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBash
Oxley Act of 2002 — Chief Financial Officer.

# Management contract or compensatory plan or geraent.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 18{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the usideed, thereunto duly authorized.

ASTEA INTERNATIONAL INC.

By: /s/Zack Bergreen
Zack Bergreen

Chief Executive Officer

March 30, 2016

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each personoaé signature appears below constitutes and agpoauk
Bergreen and Rick Etskovitz, jointly and severallis attorney-in-fact, each with the power of sitbson, for him in any
and all capacities, to sign any amendments toRbjsort on Form 10-K and to file the same, with bithithereto and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Semgiand Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying amdiaming all that
each of said attorney-in-fact, or his substitutewrstitutes, may do or cause to be done by viréweof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bdlgwhe following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the dtipa and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/slZack Bergreen Chief Executive Officer March 2016
Zack Bergreen (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/Rick Etskovitz Chief Financial Officer Marcld, 32016
Rick Etskovitz (Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer)
/slZack Bergreen Chairman of the Board of Dirextor March 30, 2016
Zack Bergreen
/s/Keith Schneck Director March 30, 2016
Keith Schneck
/s/Eric Siegel Director March 30, 2016
Eric Siegel
/sIMark Simon Director March 30, 2016
Mark Simon
/s/{John Tobin Director March 30, 2016
John Tobin
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23.1

23.2

24.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

EXHIBIT INDEX
Description
Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of EisnerAmper LLP
Consent of Grant Thornton, LLP
Powers of Attorney (See the Signature Page)
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of tlaeb@nes-Oxley Act of 2002-Chief Executive Officer
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of tlaeb@nes-Oxley Act of 2002-Chief Financial Officer

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiob@,3as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Basb@xley
Act of 2002-Chief Executive Officer

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiob@,3s adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@xley
Act of 2002-Chief Financial Officer

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkleas
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Liskba
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Company Name Jurisdiction of Organization
Astea FSC Barbados
Astea International Japan, Inc. Japan
Astea Israel Ltd. Israel
Astea (UK) Limited England
Astea Service and Distribution Systems B.V. Netherlands
FC Acquisition Corp. Delaware
Network Data, Inc. Delaware
Virtual Service Corp. Pennsylvania
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRegistration Statements of Astea International &rd subsidiaries on
Form S-8 (Nos. 333-168793, 333-107757, 333-61983;&1865 and 333-33825) of our report dated Maf;2816, on our
audit of the consolidated financial statementsfd3ezember 31, 2015 and for the year then endeathwigport is included
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be filed anabbout March 30, 2016.

[s/ EisnerAmper LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 30, 2016
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Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated March 31, 2015 mispect to the consolidated financial statemfartshe year ended
December 31, 2014 included in the Annual ReporAsiea International Inc. and subsidiaries on Fof¥Kifor the year
ended December 31, 2015. We hereby consent tod¢beporation by reference of said report in thgiReation Statements

of Astea International Inc. and subsidiaries onmi®5-8 (File No. 333-168793, File No. 333-10775k No. 333-61981,
File No. 333-34865, and File No. 333-33825).

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 30, 2016
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Zack Bergreen, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KAsefea International Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omigtade a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, ih digthe circumstances under which such statemarte made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered Iy ithport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this repdairly present
in all material respects the financial conditiogsults of operations and cash flows of the registaa of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in the Exchange Act Rules1b8e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control ovearficial reporting (as
defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and-15()) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrinédgion relating to the registrant, including itsnsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withose entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report
is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finaha@gaorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerasurance regarding the reliability of financigborting and
the preparation of financial statements for extepwposes in accordance with generally accepteuating
principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldsire controls and procedures and presentedsrrdport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discéosantrols and procedures, as of the end of ¢nieg covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (thgsteant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case ofaamual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likelyntaterially affect, the registrant’s internal catover financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antidve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiorternal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant’srthad directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakness® the design or operation of internal controkiofinancial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversaffigct the registrant’s ability to record, processmmarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin
the registrant’s internal control over financigboeting.

Date: March 30, 2016 By: /s/Zack Bergreen
Zack Bergreen
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Rick Etskovitz, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KAsefea International Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omigtade a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, ih digthe circumstances under which such statemeete made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered Iy ithport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this repdairly present
in all material respects the financial conditiogsults of operations and cash flows of the registaa of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in the Exchange Act Rules1B8e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control oveaficial reporting (as
defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and-15()) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrinédgion relating to the registrant, including itsnsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report
is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finahag@orting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerasurance regarding the reliability of financigborting and
the preparation of financial statements for extepwposes in accordance with generally accepteuating
principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradidelosure controls and procedures and presentéaismreport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discéosantrols and procedures, as of the end of ¢hieg covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportingat occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (thgisteant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case ofaamual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likelyntaterially affect, the registrant’s internal catover financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antidve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatigrternal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant’srthad directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal contrar financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversaffect the registrant’s ability to record, processmmarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifrole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 30, 2016 By: /s/Rick Etskovitz

Rick Etskovitz
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accourgi Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Astea Intional Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for tperiod ending
December 31, 2015 as filed with the Securities Brmdhange Commission on the date hereof (the “R®&pdrt Zack
Bergreen, Chief Executive Officer and Principal &xteve Officer of the Company, certify, pursuantli® U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxlep®2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementssettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange &%
1934; and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand
results of operations of the Company.

[slZack Bergreen
Zack Bergreen

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
March 30, 2016
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Astea Intional Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for tperiod ending
December 31, 2015 as filed with the Securities Brmdhange Commission on the date hereof (the “R&pdrt Rick
Etskovitz, Chief Financial Officer and PrincipahBincial and Chief Accounting Officer of the Compaoertify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 8 90BeoBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementssettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange &
1934; and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand
results of operations of the Company.

Is/Rick Etskovitz

Rick Etskovitz

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accourgi Officer)
March 30, 2016

78



